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Foreword


One day in 1943, when I was 11 or 12 years old, I discovered a section in our local library labelled ‘Psychical Research’ and a book called ‘The Most Haunted House in England’ by Harry Price. I had read about this in a magazine article, but never expected to have the luck to find it in the St Barnabus branch of the Leicester public library. Moreover, they also had books by Price called Confessions of a Ghost-Hunter, Fifty Years of Psychical Research and Poltergeist Over England, all of which were duly devoured and became the basis of my lifelong interest in the paranormal. (The End of Borley Rectory did not appear until 1946.)


In 1956 I picked up a copy of a volume of the Proceedings of the Society for Psychical Research entitled The Haunting of Borley Rectory – A Critical Survey of the Evidence by E.J. Dingwall, Trevor Hall and Kathleen Goldney, and must confess that I was disappointed to learn that the authors took a sceptical attitude towards Price’s researches and believed that he may have been responsible for some of the ‘poltergeist effects’, such as stone-throwing. It was many more years before, while making a series on the paranormal for the BBC, I spent a day at the Harry Price Library at the University of London and learned the other side to the story: that Price was regarded by many researchers as a reliable witness. Having in the meantime written books about ghosts and poltergeists myself, this is the view I am now inclined to accept.


I should mention that for a long period in my teens, when I became focused on physics and cosmology, I decided that the whole question of psychical research and life-after-death was probably nonsense and I totally lost interest in it. But around 1969, when I was asked to write a book called The Occult for an American publisher, I returned to the subject, and within weeks of beginning to collect information I came to the conclusion that there is as much evidence for the paranormal as for atoms and electrons.


I had also, through a friend named John Michell, come upon some new research on the subject of so-called ‘ley lines’, lines of earth magnetism that may be associated with many paranormal effects, such as poltergeist activity. Since by that time I had also made the interesting discovery that I could dowse with a divining rod, it began to seem to me that I may have stumbled on a theory that might cast new light on the paranormal. In making a series of programmes for BBC television about ghosts and hauntings, I noted that again and again, places associated with paranormal activity – from poltergeists to UFO sightings – were often at crossing points of ‘ley lines’, and concluded that the ‘earth force’ may have the effect of amplifying paranormal effects.


In the late 1970s I asked another ley line researcher, Stephen Jenkins, about his views on Borley, and he replied as follows: ‘Norfolk and Suffolk are a spider-web of alignments, many of which are linked to curious manifestations. Borley Church stands at a node where four lines cross, one going from Asher Church to Sproughton Church. …’ After giving further details of the ley line system, he continued:




My wife photographed me as I was standing with my back to the south wall of Borley churchyard, at ten o’clock on the morning of Saturday 1 September, 1979. This was recently borrowed for a magazine article, and the editor kindly sent me an enlargement. No less than three people, none of them known to the others, have on separate occasions noted in the enlargement some odd – and not very prepossessing – faces among the trees close to the church. The same identifications have been made without possibility of collusion.


More dramatic than unexpected faces in a photograph, which can always be explained away as ‘simulacra’ or something wrong with the emulsion, is an incident of Sunday 28 August 1977, on the road north of Belchamp Walter Hall. The time was precisely 11.52 p.m., and we were driving south-west along the minor road which marks the north end of the Hall grounds, when on the road in front, in the act of turning left into the hedge, across the path of the car, appeared four men in black – I thought them hooded and cloaked – carrying a black, old-fashioned coffin, ornately trimmed with silver. The impression made on both of us was one of absolute physical presence, of complete material reality.


Thelma and I at once agreed to make separate notes without comparing impressions. We did so, and the descriptions tallied exactly, except that she noted the near-left bearer turn his face towards her. I did not see this as I was abruptly braking at the time. What I had seen as a hood she described as a soft tall hat, with a kind of scarf falling to the left shoulder, thrown across the cloaked body to the right. The face was that of a skull.


The next day we returned to the precise spot at exactly the same time and took a picture. It is a Kodak colour slide. In the hedge near the gap where the funeral party vanished (there is a path there leading to Belchamp Walter churchyard) is a short figure, apparently cloaked, its face lowered with a skull-like dome to the head. A year later I returned and searched the area where it had apparently stood. There was nothing, no post or stump that might have provided such an image, nor was there the slightest sign of the ground having been disturbed by the removal of anything that might have been rooted in it. The image is simply there on the film – we saw nothing wrong with the eye. That minor road alongside the north edge of the Belchamp Walter Estate precisely coincides with a line passing through the node in the water west of Heaven Wood. That node itself linked with the node at Borley.





Stephen adds a postscript: ‘I hazard a guess that the dress of the coffin-bearer is that of the late fourteenth century. There seems to be no local legend of a phantom funeral.’


In my own book Poltergeist: A Study in Destructive Haunting, in which I discuss Price and Borley at some length, I comment: ‘Anyone who feels that the SPR survey proves that Price was a liar should read the long account in Peter Underwood’s Gazetteer of British Ghosts, with Peter Underwood’s own first-hand reports from interviews with witnesses.’ Even as recently as the spring of 2000, I received more proof of the power of Borley to spawn bizarre legends when Jane Mayes, the literary editor of the Daily Mail, rang me to ask me if I knew anything about Borley. It seemed that the Mail had received for review a book called We Faked the Ghosts of Borley Rectory by one Louis Mayerling, and wanted to know if it could possibly be true. I said no, because the ghosts were not faked. Jane then sent me the book, and the back cover made me aware that it was a leg-pull, beginning: ‘The author was born at an early age …’ I asked the co-author of this present book, Paul Adams, if he knew anything about it. He replied that the author’s real name is George Carter, and that when interviewed (at Peter Underwood’s request) by the Jack the Ripper expert Stewart Evans, he let slip in an unguarded moment that it was Harry Price’s books on Borley that got him interested in the subject.


As to Borley, I think it is safe to say that no amount of debunking is now going to affect its reputation as the ‘most haunted house in England’.


Colin Wilson


Gorran Haven, Cornwall, 2008
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Introduction


In September 2003 two of the present authors, Eddie Brazil and Paul Adams, then members of the old Borley Ghost Society, met at Borley in the company of a fellow enthusiast Robert Vajna, who with his wife and young son were on a holiday from Perth, Australia. The Vajnas had spent the summer touring around Europe and although they had visited several impressive locations such as the Parthenon and the Eiffel Tower, Borley Rectory, allegedly ‘the most haunted house in England’, was the one place that Robert was most keen to experience. What would make a person want to travel from the other side of the world to visit a small non-descript village in a remote and rural part of Britain to see the site of a building that has not existed for nearly sixty years? The answers are to be found in the pages of this book.


For nearly eighty years Borley Rectory has proved to be one of the most enduring and controversial cases of haunting ever recorded. Its ghosts are now world famous and its most ardent champion, the flamboyant and maverick ghost hunter Harry Price (1881–1948) has become ‘one of the most fascinating and storm-provoking figures’ in the history of psychical research. Interwoven between the reports of earthbound spirits, apparitions, poltergeist phenomena, ghost-hunting vigils and seances is a human drama almost as remarkable as the paranormal happenings alleged to have occurred at the lonely Essex rectory. Borley has become the classic ghost story and, although seemingly now one which has achieved legendary status, it is a case of haunting based firmly on facts which are set out in the pages that follow.
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An atmospheric impression of Borley Rectory by artist Derek Wheeler painted in 2004. (Photo and Original: Peter Underwood Collection).


The seeds of The Borley Rectory Companion were sown a long time ago as the three authors have studied the haunting for more years than we would care to mention. Paul Adams discovered the case in the mid 1970s through a book by Daniel Farson obtained through a school book club; Eddie Brazil credits an encounter with Harry Price’s 1940 monograph, ‘The Most Haunted House in England’ while playing truant in a south London library in 1968 as his introduction, while Peter Underwood, one of Britain’s most well-known ghost hunters who has been writing on the paranormal for the past thirty-five years, first visited Borley in 1947. His involvement with the case covers fifty years and includes two previous books on the subject, The Ghosts of Borley (1973) and Borley Postscript (2001). In the late 1940s Peter corresponded with Harry Price and only missed meeting him by a few hours – Price died from a sudden heart attack at his home in Pulborough, West Sussex on Easter Monday, 29 March 1948; their appointment had been for the very next day.


The structure of the book caters for both beginners as well as those who have already become caught up in the mysteries of Henry Bull’s famous house. The Part I overview essay is a quick way of becoming familiar with the case and contains reference pointers to other more detailed sections, namely the Part II Encyclopaedic Dictionary which is an extensive A–Z reference work on the entire case covering people, places, events and phenomena reported to have occurred in and around Borley Rectory over the past 150 years. There is extensive cross-referencing throughout and all sections are linked with the Part III Chronology which is the most extensive and complete date-order record of the Rectory haunting ever compiled.


The intention has been to write a book that appeals on different levels, and pro-paranormal enthusiasts and perhaps even hardened Borley sceptics alike will find the presentation and content of this latest addition to the published literature of the case of great interest and use, even if simply from a historical or sociological point of view. For those people actively studying the paranormal and carrying out their own research, the book gives an insight into the way ghost hunting and the investigation of the supernatural has originated from the work of Harry Price, the foremost ghost hunter of his day and still a seminal figure in today’s media-driven paranormal community. But, if you simply want to wallow in nostalgia and recapture a time when ghost hunters wore ‘Oxford Bags’ and listened to records on a wind-up gramophone while conducting their haunted house vigils, then The Borley Rectory Companion will take you there.


Paul Adams, Eddie Brazil & Peter Underwood


Luton, Hazlemere & London, 2008




Authors’ Note


For convenience the following abbreviations are used throughout this book: MHH for Harry Price’s ‘The Most Haunted House in England’ (1940) and EBR for Price’s The End of Borley Rectory (1946); HBR for Dingwall, Goldney & Hall’s The Haunting of Borley Rectory (1956).


The authors wish to point out that Borley Rectory no longer exists, and that the former grounds and gardens have been redeveloped and are now private property. We should ask that readers who feel the need to visit Borley bear this in mind and, given the problems that village residents have experienced over the years from sensation-seekers and the like, treat the place and its people with the consideration they themselves would wish to receive in similar circumstances.




PART I


The Haunting of Borley Rectory


A Concise Overview from 1862 to the Present Day


I – BORLEY BASICS


1. The Bull Family


It is perhaps appropriate that the origins of the haunting of Borley Rectory are lost in the mists of time. The Revd Henry Dawson Ellis Bull (1833–92) certainly knew all about a supposed ghostly nun and stories of a phantom coach, as three of his children confirmed to one of us (PU), although, as Ethel Bull added as the others nodded in agreement, it was not a matter that was usually discussed among the children.


When Henry Bull became Rector of Borley in 1862 he set about building a suitable residence for himself and his family, and he built Borley Rectory on the site of the earlier Herringham Rectory (William Herringham was rector from 1807 to 1819 and John Phillip Herringham was rector from 1819 to 1862), which was itself erected on the site of an earlier building that seems to have replaced an even earlier edifice. At all events the site of Borley Rectory had seen several previous buildings, as became evident from the series of excavations carried out many years later.
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The south-east side of Borley Rectory photographed from the lawn in 1910. (Photo: Peter Underwood Collection).


There is some evidence to suggest that for a long time before the death of the Revd John P. Herringham in 1862 the old Rectory had been locked up and disused for whatever reason. This is rather odd as White’s Gazetteer for 1848 mentions the incumbent (the Revd J.E. Herringham) ‘who has a good modern residence’. Yet the said rector seems to have been living at Borley Place, beside the church, for some time previous to his death. Seemingly the old structure was demolished and Borley Rectory as we know it was completed on the site in 1863. A Tithe Map for 1841 (discovered by Len Sewell) shows the Rectory Cottage or coach-house occupying its present position, so it would appear that the cottage/coach-house predated the last Borley Rectory.


Originally L-shaped and consisting of two storeys, when completed with various extensions (the rector adding a wing in 1875 to accommodate his growing family), the property eventually consisted of twenty rooms. It was finally completed as late as 1892, when the building almost completely surrounded a courtyard in the centre to which access was only available on the coach-house/stables/cottage side through a narrow gap, otherwise from the house through the kitchen passage or through the scullery. Inside there were stairs off the kitchen passage which led down to the oddly shaped cellars that ran underneath the house and extended beneath the hall and library. They seem to have included some foundations from a previous dwelling. There was a main stairway in the hall leading to the upper floor and some back stairs off the kitchen leading towards bedrooms on the north side of the house from whence access could be gained to the rest of the first-floor rooms which consisted of some ten bedrooms, a dressing room, a bathroom, lavatory and later a chapel. The ground floor consisted of a drawing room, dining room, library, sewing room, kitchen, pantry, scullery, dairy, larder and various storerooms.


The successive families who occupied the last Borley Rectory – every one of whom reported mysterious happenings – were the Revd Henry Dawson Ellis Bull from 1862 to 1892, his son the Revd Henry (Harry) Foyster Bull, 1892 to 1927, the Revd Guy Eric Smith 1928 to 1929 and the Revd Lionel Algernon Foyster 1930 to 1935. Thereafter the building was not occupied by the incumbent.


(Consult Part II Dictionary: Henry D.E. Bull, Harry Bull, Bull Family, Borley Rectory, Rectory Cottage, Floor Plans)


2. Legends and Stories – The Monk and the Nun


Before we look at some of the apparently paranormal and certainly mysterious happenings that were reported to occur in this rabbit warren of a house, we will look briefly at the long-standing and colourful legends and stories associated with the immediate area. The earliest newspaper reports by Vernon Wall of the Daily Mirror appeared on 10 June 1929, before Harry Price visited Borley for the first time, and told of ‘ghostly figures of headless coachmen and a nun, an old-time coach, drawn by two bay horses’ and the legends recounted ‘occurred at the monastery which once stood on this spot’.


It was said that a groom at the monastery fell in love with a nun at a nearby convent and they held clandestine meetings in the wood behind the Rectory. One day they arranged to elope and another groom had a coach waiting for them on the road outside the wood. Here the legend varies: some versions say the nun and her lover quarrelled and he strangled her in the wood, was caught and beheaded together with the other groom for his villainy; another version has it that all three were caught in the act of eloping by the monks and that the two grooms were beheaded and the nun buried alive. All this is very unlikely; not only was there never, as far as is known, a monastery on the site or even in the area of Borley Rectory, there is no evidence of any nun ever being buried alive in England; nor was there a nearby nunnery, but such a story could well have been concocted, of course, in an attempt to explain the appearances of the coach and the nun. Whatever the origin of these tales they were well established by the time the Revd Henry Bull built the last Borley Rectory.


A large octagonal summer-house was situated in the garden so that it backed onto the lane and faced a path on the far side of the lawn where the phantom nun had, apparently, been seen on many occasions. There is some confusion as to when the path acquired its famous title of the Nun’s Walk. Peter Underwood understood Ethel Bull to say on one occasion that the name originated from her brother Harry, but on another occasion she stated that the Walk was so-called for as long as she could remember and she said both her father and her mother referred to the path by that name.


The large summer-house was built, as far as it can be established, by the Revd Henry Bull for the express purpose of watching for the phantom nun, although more mundane explanations have been given. Certainly he spent time there and his son Harry, who succeeded his father as rector in 1892, spent many hours in the summer-house for the same purpose and, as he himself told many people, some of whom were interviewed by one of us (PU), he claimed to see the ghost many times. He made attempts to converse with her but he never received any reply to his questions. This structure was in good condition at the time of Harry Price’s first visit in 1929.


There was also a smaller Gothic-style summer-house, built by the rector about the same time, situated at the extreme south-east of the Rectory garden and here too, it is said, the rectors and especially the Revd Henry Bull would spend much time, particularly in the early part of the morning, ‘communing with the spirits’. He was certainly not afraid of ghosts and nor was his son Harry, and he enjoyed amateur boxing, hunting and country sports in general as, again, did his son.


(Consult Part II Dictionary: Borley Legends, Rectory Grounds, Nun’s Walk, Summer-Houses)


3. Phenomena from the Bull Incumbency


Now for the accredited phenomena from these early days. A Mr Charles A. Boyden of Alberta, Canada, wrote to the then rector, the Revd Guy Smith, in October 1929 (he passed the letter to Harry Price), revealing that he had heard about the Borley ghosts over fifty years previously, i.e. in 1878 or 1879, and had indeed ‘experienced a little’ of the haunting himself. Unfortunately he did not go into details but he did say he had been brought up in Borley in the days of the Revd Henry Bull. A Mrs E. Byford stated in writing that when she was an under-nursemaid at Borley Rectory in 1886 many weird things happened and it was common talk that the Rectory was haunted. ‘Much of my youth was spent in the Borley district,’ Mrs Byford of The Parsonage Farm, Newport near Saffron Walden, Essex, wrote in 1929, ‘and my grandparents would never let me pass the building after dark’. Two of the Bull daughters had been occupying her room before she arrived but when she had been there about a fortnight, she found herself suddenly awake in the middle of the night and heard the sounds of slippered footsteps in the passage outside her bedroom that seemed to be approaching her door but nobody entered the room; next day Mrs Byford spoke to the other four maids about what she had heard and they all said they had certainly not been responsible. They tried to laugh her out of her fears but she became nervous of the house and left after a month, ‘because the place was so weird’.


Mr P. Shaw Jeffrey M.A. (Oxon) was a contemporary of Harry Bull – both were at Oxford together. In the long vacations Shaw Jeffrey (who was later headmaster of Colchester Royal Grammar School from 1899 to 1916) stayed at Borley Rectory; he was certainly there in 1885 and 1886 when he had ‘lots of small adventures; stones falling from nowhere, objects moving by themselves’ and he stated emphatically that he ‘saw the nun several times and often heard the coach go clattering by’. Later Shaw Jeffrey, then living in Cape Town, South Africa, wrote an article that was published in the Cape Times in January 1941 in which he describes the well-to-do Revd Henry Bull as a typical ‘squarson’ – half squire, half parson; and he repeated his assertion that he saw the ghostly nun ‘several times’ and heard the ‘ghostly coach-and-four sweep down the much-too-narrow lane beside the Rectory so often’ that he used to sleep through the noise, adding that ‘a variety of disconcerting incidents happened’. It would seem that Mr Shaw Jeffrey was a very respected and respectable man and his evidence, which he never retracted in any way (he died in 1952 aged 89), is important contemporary material. He also spoke of Harry Bull telling him of his experiences of seeing the nun and other apparently paranormal happenings. His descriptions are enlightening. He describes Harry Bull as ‘an extraordinary man’ and Harry’s father (‘the old man’) Henry Bull as ‘a great sportsman who frequently used to lie on the drawing-room floor and pot at rabbits at the bottom of the garden with a rook rifle’.


[image: illustration]


The ornate Rectory Drawing Room around 1910.(Photo: Peter Underwood Collection/Mary Evans Picture Library).


Looking at some of the evidence for the disturbances chronologically Philip Paul (who later supervised extensive excavations at Borley) has written repeatedly that to his knowledge there is ‘firm evidence that the “nun” phantasm was seen in 1885’; but the outstanding instance that must be considered next is the remarkable sighting of the ‘nun’ by four of the Bull sisters collectively in 1900. Miss Ethel Bull herself told one of us (PU) on several occasions of the unforgettable incident. By all accounts, and Peter Underwood heard the story from several sources, three of the Bull sisters, Ethel, Freda and Mabel, were returning from a small local party on 28 July 1900 and, as they entered the drive gate and started to approach the house, they all saw the figure of a nun dressed in black with bowed head walking, or gliding, along the Nun’s Walk. The girls were scared for there was something unnatural about the figure and one of them ran into the house and fetched their older sister Caroline (known as Dodie), who came out straightaway. Thinking it must be a Sister of Mercy on some errand, collecting for charity or in some confusion, she hurried towards the person, as she thought it to be, to offer help but when she was within a couple of yards of the figure, it completely and utterly vanished. If this account is accepted we are faced with a figure seen by three people simultaneously and then by another from a different direction, all in good light, by seemingly responsible daughters of a clergyman, women who told the same story of the incident for the rest of their lives. Less than four months later one of the sisters, Ethel, saw the ghost nun again, this time apparently leaning over a gate; the Rectory cook, who was with Ethel at the time, also saw the apparition and interestingly enough a cousin who was staying at the house at the time, reported seeing the same figure in the same place.


(Consult Part II Dictionary: P. Shaw Jeffrey, French Dictionary Incident, July 28th, Apparitions)


4. The Coopers, the Phantom Coach and the Waiting Nun


Between 1916 and 1920 Edward Cooper, who was employed as a gardener and coachman, lived with his wife in the Rectory Cottage and before they had been there very long Cooper asked his wife whether she ever heard voices in the cottage or sounds like a dog padding round or above their bedroom. Practical Mrs Cooper suggested the culprits might be cats or vermin, so the loft above their bedroom was thoroughly explored in daylight but nothing was found and there was no trace of anything that might have accounted for the sounds. Then one afternoon Mrs Cooper heard distinct rapping sounds from overhead, quite loud, and she realised, as her husband had already done, that there was something odd going on.


One evening Mr Cooper came in and asked his wife whether she had ever seen a Sister of Mercy anywhere about the Rectory and when she said ‘No’ he told her he saw a nun as he came in by the garden door and she seemed to come from the back entrance of the Rectory and went towards the road. He felt there was something strange about her movements and had followed her for several yards but then she had suddenly disappeared; one minute she had been there and the next there was nothing to be seen, yet she had appeared to be absolutely solid and real. It was dusk and the Coopers decided between them that it must have been a visitor calling at the Rectory, perhaps collecting for charity, but it was odd the way she had disappeared.


One night Edward Cooper thought he saw the phantom coach. It was a moonlit night and looking out of the bedroom window he saw what appeared to be an old-fashioned coach with horses and two headlamps that glittered on the harness and the horses, but he heard no sound whatsoever. He called his wife but the coach, or whatever it was he saw, had disappeared before she reached his side. During their near five-year stay at Borley, the Coopers reported other curious incidents including crashing sounds and the appearance of an eerie black shape inside the house.


Mr and Mrs Cooper left the Rectory Cottage in March 1920 when the Bulls (except for old Mrs Bull, the rector and his wife who were residing at Borley Place) left the Rectory and moved to Chilton Lodge at nearby Great Cornard. The Coopers went to live in Sudbury where they resided for the rest of their lives, never experiencing any further mysterious happenings and where one of us (PU) interviewed them and talked with them on several occasions, hearing from them firsthand their experiences at the cottage at Borley. Their accounts of the happenings never changed and although always reluctant to talk about the matter they never had any doubt as to the incidents being totally inexplicable.


In 1930 Harry Price traced a journeyman carpenter named Fred Cartwright who lived in Sudbury and he related to Price, as he had occasionally to other people, his curious experiences of seeing the form of a nun waiting at the gate of Borley Rectory early in the morning, in the autumn of 1927. On four separate occasions during the course of just over a week Cartwright, who at the time was ignorant of the ghostly history of the Rectory, claimed to see what we can describe now as a full-form daylight apparition which he took to be a living person. On the fourth and final occasion the Sister of Mercy disappeared unaccountably, and several times in the months that followed Cartwright passed Borley Rectory, at different times of the day and night, and although he looked out for her he never saw the mysterious figure again.
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The front of Borley Rectory from the road around the turn of the century, showing the driveway where Fred Cartwright saw the nun four times in 1927. (Photo: Alan Wesencraft/Richard Lee-Van den Daele).
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A modern view of the Rectory entrance taken in 2008. (Photo: Eddie Brazil).


(Consult Part II Dictionary: Mr & Mrs Edward Cooper, Phantom Coach, Fred Cartwright, Apparitions)


5. Harry Price Investigates


After the death of the Revd Harry Bull the living of Borley was offered to twelve clergymen but all refused; the story of the haunting was beginning to spread. The Revd Guy Eric Smith was a Eurasian who did not believe in ghosts and he and his English wife had come to England from India where Mrs Smith had suffered a serious illness. Guy Eric Smith was ordained in 1926 and had held a curacy at Great Clacton from 1926 until 1928 when he accepted the living of Borley. The Smiths were told nothing about the reputation that the house had acquired; nothing about any ghost or haunting.


Soon after their arrival the Smiths heard disturbing whispering sounds inside the Rectory and once the rector thought he caught the phrase, ‘Don’t, Carlos, don’t!’ but usually no words were distinguishable. The servant bells rang mysteriously, apparently unaided (also experienced by the Bulls), and distinct, slow deliberate footsteps paced the upper passages and some of the rooms. Two successive maidservants said they saw apparitions; the figure of a nun reportedly walked along the Nun’s Walk and a similar apparitional figure was seen elsewhere in the garden; also an upper window in the Rectory would inexplicably light up – and Mrs Smith pointed this out to various neighbours, including the Paynes who now lived in Borley Place, who also saw the light and established that there was no natural explanation for its appearance. One of the Smiths’ maids saw the traditional coach and horses; a shadowy shape was seen near one of the drive gates and curious noises were heard by all the occupants of the house. The Smiths were genuinely puzzled by the curious things that were happening, almost as soon as they took up residence, and they wrote to the Daily Mirror newspaper who in turn contacted Harry Price.


As the leading ghost hunter or parapsychologist of his day, and Honorary Director of his own National Laboratory of Psychical Research, Harry Price lost no time in visiting Borley Rectory. There, he met and talked with the rector and his wife, whom he described as ‘charming and hospitable, intelligent, much travelled and sceptical people’, the Rectory staff, a maid and a gardener, and he carried out a minute examination of the Rectory building. He was not to know that this marked the beginning of what was to be his most famous case and would involve him on and off for nearly twenty years.


Price’s first visit to Borley was eventful and he seemed to be rewarded with phenomena. During a long evening vigil in the garden summer-house where he and newspaper reporter Vernon Wall watched for the ghost on the Nun’s Walk, and observed the side of the house for the mysterious window light, Price’s companion claimed to see a dark figure moving along the path among the trees. Price, intently watching the Rectory windows, was taken by surprise and it was a second or two before he could direct his gaze towards the Nun’s Walk and the place that had been indicated by his fellow watcher. It was nearly dark by this time but, says Price, ‘against the darker background of the trees I fancied I could discern a shadowy figure, blacker than the background, gliding towards the end of the garden’. But he was never sure – although more was to follow, of which he was certain.


Violent physical poltergeist phenomena accompanied their return to the house. A half-brick, seemingly propelled from nowhere, crashed through the glazed verandah roof, showering the men with glass splinters. Making their way into the Rectory, Price and Wall learned that nothing untoward had happened during their garden vigil although, of course, everyone had heard the smashing glass and were equally puzzled by the occurrence. Just in case someone was playing tricks, Price and Wall hurried upstairs and ascertained that everything was in order and no one was in the house except themselves. As they descended the main staircase another crash was heard and a glass candlestick, one of a pair they had just seen standing on the mantelpiece of one of the bedrooms, came hurtling down the stairs, struck the iron stove and disintegrated into fragments on the hall floor. Again Price and Wall rushed upstairs, made another search but found nothing to explain what had happened.


They returned downstairs and turned out all the lights, Price’s party sitting on the stairs in complete darkness, just waiting, hoping if it was genuine paranormal phenomena that they had experienced the darkness might promote more. Within moments they heard something rattling down the staircase and Wall complained that he had been hit on the hand. Relighting the lamps they found a mothball had apparently rolled down the stairs – but where it had come from or how it came to roll downstairs, no one knew. Then, quickly, and in full light, pebbles and a piece of slate came tumbling down the stairway. Soon the servant bells rang of their own volition and Price and Wall could clearly see the wires moving and some of the pulls in the appropriate rooms were found swinging but what could have activated them? Finally the keys from two doors on the ground floor of the house appeared to fall from their locks when no one was near them.


In the early hours of the morning a seance was held in the eerie Blue Room bedroom. Tapping sounds originating from a dressing table mirror appeared to respond to questions put by the sitters who included two of the Bull sisters, both of whom were convinced they were communicating with their brother Harry who had died in the room two years previously.


(Consult Part II: Revd Guy E. Smith, Mabel Smith, Window Lights, Harry Price, Mary Pearson, Vernon Wall)


6. Fifteen Months in a Haunted House – The Foyster Incumbency


After the departure of the Smiths, Borley Rectory stood empty for six months and then in October 1930 the Revd Lionel Algernon Foyster, a cousin of the Bulls, accepted the living and moved into the Rectory accompanied by his wife Marianne and their adopted daughter Adelaide, aged 2½ years. During the five years that the Foysters were to reside at Borley, the alleged paranormal activity would reach a hitherto unparalleled intensity and variety, attracting considerable attention and not a little criticism.


Within months of the Foysters’ arrival, the strange happenings became widely known and the experiences of the family brought varied reactions from the neighbours. Some were inclined to accept the phenomena as genuine while others were less prepared to do so. Sir George and Lady Whitehouse of Arthur Hall and their nephew Edwin (later to become a Benedictine monk and adopt the name Dom Richard) were sympathetic and helpful; Sir John and Lady Braithwaite thought that hysteria on Marianne’s part contributed to the happenings; the Bulls seemed to understand what was happening and felt that Marianne was probably mediumistic; the Revd Clive Luget, rector of nearby Middleton, became friendly with the Foysters, visited frequently and experienced a wealth of apparent phenomena; the Paynes too were sympathetic and helpful when the reported happenings became too troublesome. Soon Lionel Foyster began to keep a record of the events, which commenced, he said, soon after he and his family arrived and he sent newsletters around his family detailing the experiences of himself and his visitors.


The reported phenomena included crashing sounds, footsteps, bottles appearing from nowhere and smashing themselves to pieces, unexplained bell-ringing, voices, door-locking, apparitions, the disappearance and reappearance elsewhere of household articles; there were also strange smells, mysterious fires and messages – written on walls or scraps of paper – and even physical assaults; at times life became very difficult for all the occupants.


Edwin Whitehouse became a frequent visitor to the Rectory and he personally witnessed the unexplained movement of objects, the appearance of ‘messages’, a mysterious outbreak of fire, door-locking, bell-ringing and the appearance and disappearance of bottles. In public and private statements – among others to Peter Underwood – Whitehouse said that he had ‘seen more than enough to convince him that the phenomena at Borley Rectory were preternatural’. He also asserted that after six months of observation and study he had never had any occasion to suspect any member of the household of trickery.


In October 1931, Harry Price returned to Borley together with a party that included Mrs Henry Richards and Mrs Kathleen Goldney, Council Members of his National Laboratory, and over the course of two days they witnessed several instances of ‘phenomena’. Price considered much of what he experienced to be a trick and he suspected Marianne Foyster of being responsible. At a meeting at the Rectory, Price told the rector of his conclusions but Foyster would not hear a word against his wife and he and Price parted on bad terms, so much so that Price felt unable to approach the rector again for a considerable time. Three months after that eventful visit, Price wrote to the former incumbent, the Revd Guy Smith, saying, ‘Some curious things have been taking place at Borley during the last twelve months … two or three of us went down a few weeks ago … bottles were thrown at us, ink mixed with wine etc., etc. I formed a conclusion as to who was doing these things but of course we had no proof. I should like to go down there again but the Foysters will not permit it’. Good relations were not restored in fact until several years later.


Despite Harry Price’s sceptical attitude, mysterious happenings continued to take place at the Rectory. Exorcism ceremonies were carried out and mediums and Spiritualist groups also tried to placate whoever or whatever was causing the disturbances, but to little avail. The apparition of Harry Bull was apparently seen within the Rectory on a number of occasions, several times by Marianne, once – possibly – by the infant Adelaide. The apparition usually appeared to be wearing the rector’s favourite plum-coloured dressing-gown. In 1954, the rector’s brother, Arthur Foyster, told Peter Underwood that on one occasion when the rector was out of the house, a woman acquaintance called to see him. Marianne told her that her husband was out, whereupon the caller said, ‘You must be mistaken; I saw him in an upstairs room – he was wearing a dressing-gown.’ Arthur Foyster said he made a point of meeting this woman himself and discussed the incident with her in the company of Professor Cook of Cambridge in 1936.


During his five-year stay at Borley, Lionel Foyster wrote extensively about the experiences of himself and his family. A set of original notes was enlarged into a three-part Diary of Experiences that was written for other members of his family. Later Foyster attempted an extended novelisation using pseudonyms which was written with a view to publication entitled Fifteen Months in a Haunted House. He also wrote an account of the haunting at a later date for Harry Price.


Not everyone who visited Borley Rectory experienced strange happenings. Canon H. Lawton for one spent a month there in 1933 with his family as locum for Lionel Foyster and reported no disturbances whatsoever, but the fact remains that more varied and more numerous curious incidents were reported during the Foyster years at Borley Rectory, 1930–1935, than at any other time in the history of that strange house, and after the Foysters left the property was never lived in again.


(Consult Part II Dictionary: Lionel Foyster, Marianne Foyster, Foyster Phenomena, Diary of Occurrences, Fifteen Months in a Haunted House)


7. The Harry Price Tenancy


The Revd Alfred Clifford Henning came to Borley in 1936 when the parish was combined with that of neighbouring Liston and the Hennings eventually moved into the much smaller and more convenient Liston Rectory. Henning was responsible for Borley Rectory and the Bishop of Chelmsford advised him to try to sell it but, before he could do so, Harry Price heard about the empty building and wrote to Henning in May 1937 asking whether it might be possible for him to carry out further investigations. Henning agreed and Price eventually rented the place for twelve months.


The Price tenancy represented one of the first attempts to carry out an extended investigation of an allegedly haunted building. Price recruited observers through an advertisement in The Times and supplied them with a printed manual of instructions prepared in advance by himself in conjunction with an Oxford undergraduate friend, Ellic Howe. Later, critics suggested that in his ‘Blue Book’, Price put suggestions into the minds of his observers and that he purposely kept experienced psychical researchers away, but it must be acknowledged that he was breaking new ground in organising such an investigation, something that had never been done before, and he sought to have reliable witnesses who were completely impartial. It was, of course, open to organisations such as the Society for Psychical Research, who had information about the alleged haunting of Borley Rectory before Harry Price did, to rent or buy the Rectory before or after Price’s tenancy, but they made no attempt to do either.


Accompanied by Howe, Price visited Borley Rectory to set up a room to be used as a centre of operations for his observers and together they made a careful examination of the Rectory, ‘ringing’ with chalk every movable object and making a complete inventory. During a night-time vigil they both heard a series of short sharp raps in quick succession, apparently emanating from the nearby passageway that they explored, but found nothing to account for the sounds. Later they were disturbed by two loud ‘thumps’, followed by the noise of an upstairs door slamming shut. In both cases all the doors and windows were found to be as they had left them and nothing appeared to have been moved or disturbed. Years later Ellic Howe assured Peter Underwood, verbally and in writing, that the incidents experienced that night could not have been engineered by Harry Price.


[image: illustration]


A rare photograph of Harry Price at Borley taken by David Scherman. Here Price is posing for the camera, watching for the phantom nun from the large summer-house in the garden. (Photo: Peter Underwood Collection/Mary Evans Picture Library).


Between May 1937 and May 1938 over seventy people spent time at Borley Rectory (usually at weekends) and on several occasions they were rewarded with apparent phenomena. One of Price’s first and highly regarded observers was Sidney H. Glanville who for many years after his initial visit to Borley had a considerable interest in the story. Glanville traced and interviewed witnesses and kept a detailed record of all his findings in what became known as the ‘Locked Book of Private Information’ which he presented to Harry Price at the end of the investigation.


The ‘Locked Book’ and Price’s publications contain details of all the wall writing, messages, table-tipping and planchette sessions and the seances conducted at Borley and elsewhere concerning the case. Some of them appear to emanate from a nun named ‘Marie Lairre’ who claimed to have come to England from France in the seventeenth century, to have been murdered and who wanted mass and prayers said for her at Borley. Sidney Glanville had a planchette board that he had never found to function – until he took it to Borley. Glanville’s daughter Helen and his son Roger, using the planchette on 27 March 1938, obtained a message from an ‘entity’ calling itself ‘Sunex Amures’ who stated that Borley Rectory would be burnt down at nine o’clock that night, that bones and ‘proof of the haunting’ would be found under the ruins and that the fire would start over the hall. Nothing happened to Borley Rectory that night but, eleven months later, around midnight on 27 February 1939, the Rectory was gutted by fire when a lamp was upset in the hall.


(Consult Part II Dictionary: Price Tenancy, Blue Book of Instructions, Haunted House Declaration Form, Official Observers, Seance Data)


8. The Rectory in Flames


The Rectory and its grounds were purchased in December 1938 by Captain William Hart Gregson, and he and his two sons claimed to experience several strange incidents there before the fire that destroyed the building. At the height of the blaze, Borley locals, including a police constable, claimed to see figures walking in the flames. Weeks before, in early 1939, a friend and fellow investigator of Peter Underwood, Steuart Kiernander, called at the Rectory and the door was opened by a girl (presumably one of Captain Gregson’s nieces) who said that they had all heard footsteps and other noises they could not account for, but nothing very frightening, and she showed Kiernander over the house. No one else was at home at the time.


Possible paranormal happenings continued to be reported after the fire: Mr Herbert Mayes, former chauffeur and general handyman to the Revd Henning, told one of us (PU) that while cycling past the ruins one night he heard the sound of horses approaching, and travelling at speed. It was a dark night and he jumped off his bicycle and stood at the side of the road. The sounds quickly approached nearer and nearer and then passed him and faded away in the distance – but he saw nothing. Interestingly enough Dr A.J.B. Robertson, a former Council Member of the SPR, and five friends he took with him to the burnt-out house in 1943, also reportedly heard the noise of galloping horses’ hooves. This incident was reported during a series of visits by students, organised by Dr Robertson, which became known as the Cambridge Commission. Dr Robertson told Peter Underwood all about this incident at an SPR meeting many years later.


In 1940 Harry Price’s ‘The Most Haunted House in England’ was published and one person who read it avidly was Dr W.J. Phythian-Adams, Canon of Carlisle. He became very interested in the whole story and drafted an analysis of the entire Borley haunting, based on new interpretations of the wall writings, seance messages and evidence that Price and his helpers had unearthed. The Canon’s hypothesis included a plausible and reasonable explanation for practically all the strange happenings at Borley. Most importantly, the canon made the point that many of the messages and many other ‘pointers’ suggested that human remains were buried under the cellar floor and excavations were called for.


[image: illustration]


One of the last photographs of the ruined Rectory, taken in January 1944. The rubble under the right-hand bay window is a recent fall. (Photo: Peter Underwood Collection/Mary Evans Picture Library).


In 1943 fragments of a human skull and jawbone were discovered as a result of digging beneath the cellar floor. The skull appeared to have belonged to a youngish person but the fragment was too small for the sex of the owner to be determined. The jawbone was another matter and a dental surgeon, Leslie J. Godden (who discussed his findings with Peter Underwood in 1958), made a detailed study and X-rayed the bones. His reports are interesting in that the surgeon believed them to have been those of a young woman, probably under 30 years of age, and especially interesting was the fact that the X-ray showed an area of badly infected bone that had spread from one tooth. If the remains were those of the ghost nun Marie Lairre, then the infection, which would have caused considerable pain, may well have been the cause of the sad appearance of the apparition noted by those who saw her. These bones were eventually buried by Alfred Henning in Liston churchyard on 29 May 1945 in the presence of his wife and son and Harry Price. The grave is unmarked.


(Consult Part II Dictionary: Capt. W.H. Gregson, Canon W.J. Phythian-Adams, Excavations, Bones, Well Tank)


9. The Borley Report


In 1946 Harry Price authored a second book on the Borley haunting, The End of Borley Rectory, that brought his involvement with the case up to date; the excavations in the ruined cellars, the discovery of the bones and the theories of Canon Phythian-Adams were covered in detail. A third and final volume was in preparation but on 29 March 1948 Price died suddenly of a heart attack at his home in Pulborough, West Sussex – the Borley ghosts had lost their greatest champion. Later the same year, an article by Fleet Street journalist Charles Sutton charged Price with fraud at Borley during the course of a visit made in 1929, alleging that he created poltergeist effects by throwing stones in the darkened house. Although uncorroborated, Sutton’s article came to the attention of William H. Salter, then President of the Society for Psychical Research, an organisation with which Price had had an uneasy relationship during his lifetime, and an investigation into Price’s working methods and reporting of the Rectory haunting was instigated under the auspices of the Society by three SPR members, Dr Eric Dingwall, Kathleen ‘Mollie’ Goldney and Trevor H. Hall. The result was the publication in January 1956 of The Haunting of Borley Rectory; known as the ‘Borley Report’ it criticised Price in all aspects of his involvement at Borley and charged him with wilful deception and fraud in the way he had presented the case for a genuine haunting, the evidence for which, the report concluded, was ‘so slender as to be scientifically worthless’. Despite the damage that the SPR Report did to Price’s reputation as an honest and critical psychical researcher, and its apparent dismissal of paranormal phenomena, at Borley curious events were continuing to happen.


(Consult Part II Dictionary: SPR Investigators, Borley Report, Harry Price, William H. Salter)


II – LATER BORLEY


10. The Haunting Continues


The era that has become known as ‘Later Borley’ covers the period after the fire in 1939 and continues to this day. Although in 1953, when Peter Underwood taxed Mrs Goldney on her dismissal of ‘Later Borley’ (she told PU that she had seen no evidence worthy of the name for that period), the SPR authors subsequently included a chapter so-headed in their ‘Report’ of 1956 in which they sought, quite unsuccessfully one might think, to ‘disparage, ridicule and deride’ reported paranormal activity. The apparent haunting of Borley Church may be regarded as a separate haunting or, as has been suggested, evidence that after the destruction of the Rectory the haunting entities transferred their activities to the Rectory Cottage and Borley Church.


Be that as it may, a wealth of curious happenings were reported from the Rectory Cottage which, after being rented by Mr and Mrs Arbon from 1936 until 1938, was successively occupied by Captain Gregson (who bought it in November 1938), his two sons and from time to time two of his nieces. Mr Woods, a demolition contractor, who purchased it in 1943, promptly arranged for the Rectory ruins to be dismantled, and then sold part of the grounds to Tom Gooch, a local man who built the first bungalow on the former Rectory garden. Later, a Captain Russell bought the site and those bricks, timbers and other remains that Woods had not sold, were disposed of, some of the bricks and rubble being used for a nearby airfield runway.


In 1947 James Turner bought the cottage and Rectory site and after three years sold it to Mr and Mrs R. Bacon, who remained there until 1972 when it was purchased by a Mr M. Martin for nearly £15,000. Peter Underwood approached the latter gentleman with a view to possible investigation on the site but he received a curt response from Mr Martin who said he had no wish to meet such people at his new home, or anywhere else. ‘Finally,’ he added, ‘as the Rectory and all its remains have now been “cleared up”, I hope that this is an end to the matter.’ Mr Martin made a lot of alterations including demolishing the old gateway and making a new vehicle entrance further to the east. The building itself was quite extensively extended. A later note, in June 1976, which Peter Underwood received in reply to a request to take some measurements of the site, read as follows: ‘The Rectory site has been cleared and no traces of the old building remain. I will not give permission for anyone to have details or enter these premises as I value my privacy. I want no further publicity as fun and games at the Rectory is of the past.’ Mr Martin owned the Borley Rectory site for about eight years and then put the cottage and grounds on the market for £78,000. Later again the cottage and grounds were bought by a Colonel Dorey.


Very few incidents were reported during the occupancy of the cottage by Captain Russell or Mr Woods but during the possession of the Turners a number of curious happenings were reported, as we shall see.


In 1942 Sergeant Samuel Seals from Bures, was stationed at a searchlight battery at nearby Belchamp Walter and was returning to the camp one dark night. He was halfway up the hill towards Borley when he saw two lights coming round the corner towards him ‘at a devil of a speed’. He heard no sound and at first he thought someone was coasting down the hill in a car, but as the lights came nearer they suddenly ‘switched across the road’ and he caught a glimpse of a dark shape behind the lights; he decided that a car or carriage of some kind had swept into the Rectory drive. A few seconds later he passed the entrance and was surprised to see the gate closed and no sign of any vehicle in the forecourt of the burnt-out building. Samuel Seals was interviewed by one of us (PU) in 1947 when he insisted that at the time of his experience he had no knowledge of the reputed haunting.


In September 1943 Steuart Kiernander again called at the Rectory Cottage and was shown over the shell of the Rectory. In the kitchen passage his torch refused to function although it worked perfectly both before entering and after leaving the ruins. Outside the old study he noticed an overwhelming smell of something sweet and unusual, possibly a scent, but he could find no possible cause or centre although it did seem to be local and was only detectable within an area of about 6ft.


In 1946, a London journalist Montague Ellman went to Borley and took away with him a piece of charred wood as a souvenir. Back in London he and those about him had a number of strange experiences there and elsewhere and he claimed to Peter Underwood that odd and inexplicable happenings occurred during the nine years that he possessed the piece of charred beam. The full story is recounted in Borley Postscript (2001).


At the end of April 1950, Peter Underwood received a letter from John May of Bury St Edmunds who sent a detailed account of his visit to Borley. He said he had been familiar with tales of the Borley ghosts for many years and although it was a hot day he suddenly felt a cold wave of air as he stood looking at the Rectory site; at the same time a stout stick in front of him rose seemingly unaided from the ground and waved about in front of him; then it waved backwards and forwards for a moment before soaring away in an arc and falling to the ground some distance away. John May said he recited an exorcising prayer he had come upon in Rome during the war and then he left the haunted site. He saw no one on or near the Rectory grounds.


In May 1947 Alfred Henning related to Peter Underwood the story of the curious behaviour of another stick, this time a diviner’s twig. At the invitation of the Revd Henning, a diviner who specialised in dowsing for various metals, Mrs Parker of Long Melford set to work, both to find the church plate and to find water for Mr Gooch, and at one point the stick she was using bent over with such force that there was some difficulty in forcing it up again. The diviner thought she may have located treasure or the lost church plate but subsequent digging revealed nothing. While the divining was in progress the diviner’s twig she was using was placed, for convenience, in a nearby tree. Next morning Mr Gooch found it outside his house! He took it back to the Rectory site and replaced it in the tree. Next morning it was again near his home, close to where it had been found previously! Several BBC men, there in connection with ‘The Haunted Rectory’ radio broadcast of 29 June 1947, assisted with the digging for possible treasure (much to the amusement of James Turner) and although a depth of some 9ft was reached nothing of interest was found. The BBC personnel did hear a number of short, sharp raps, apparently emanating from the cellars, which they could not account for – and which were reproduced in the broadcast.


A couple of months earlier in March 1947, Dr C.C.P. Hilton-Rowe, a former Bank of England official, went to Borley to take some photographs for Harry Price. After taking the required shots in the church and churchyard Dr Hilton-Rowe walked to the Rectory gateway, where Fred Cartwright apparently saw the nun four times, and he then found that his exposure meter, which had worked perfectly moments earlier, now malfunctioned and would not work in the vicinity of the Rectory site. Once he left that immediate area the meter functioned again and he had no further trouble with it.


(Consult Part II Dictionary: Rectory Cottage, Borley Hysteria)


11. The Experiences of the Turners


On 17 May 1947, Peter Underwood and Tom Brown visited Borley and spent the night in the grounds. They were interested to hear that James Turner intended to make a sunken garden of the gaping cellars and to outline the site of the vanished Rectory with a low brick wall. Neither James nor his wife had experienced anything they would describe as paranormal in the short time they had been there (three weeks) although they had both noticed strange smells that they could not explain. The only possibly paranormal incident experienced during the night, or rather at 3.15 in the morning – and again at 3.40 a.m., was the faint but unmistakable sound of footsteps from the direction of the bend in the Nun’s Walk. Nothing was visible on either occasion although the relevant area was entirely and completely under observation from two viewpoints and the sounds continued while both men watched. After occurring for a short time, the sounds suddenly ceased as mysteriously as they had begun.


Towards the end of May 1947, the Turners were at breakfast when both James and his wife were startled to hear a loud noise emanating from the upper part of the cottage – it sounded like heavy furniture being shifted about. They both hurried upstairs, fearful of what they might find as various articles and items of their furniture were stored there, but as they rushed up the stairs the sounds suddenly ceased and they found that nothing had in fact been moved. It was the first but not the last time they were to hear resounding and unexplained noises at the Rectory Cottage.


For over a fortnight at the end of May and during the beginning of June that year, James Turner cleared brambles, overgrown weeds and rubbish from the area around the Nun’s Walk. His daytime occupation was writing (he was a published poet and author of fiction and non-fiction books) and he worked in the garden mostly in the evenings. On several occasions, as he broke through the undergrowth into the old orchard using a sickle, he plainly heard the sound of laughter and chattering although he could not distinguish any words. The voices came from the direction of the Rectory site and often James would lay down the sickle for a moment and listen but as he did so the voices would fade away. Cathy Turner heard the sounds as well. When the work was finished and the old path that had been overgrown for so long was open and clear, he and Cathy often went to the orchard to listen, but they never heard the voices again.


In the second part of his autobiography Sometimes into England, published in 1970, James Turner sought to disparage these experiences and put them down, somewhat disingenuously perhaps, to ‘the noise of aeroplanes warming up on a distant aerodrome’. In the same book, however, he did admit that during their time at Borley he and his wife heard many odd noises, ‘such as pistol shots, the sound of breaking crockery when nothing had fallen’ and there were also ‘warm patches in beds where cats might have slept when no cat was in the house’. Cathy and James, incidentally, had spent a completely uneventful night ‘ghost hunting’ among the ruins of Borley Rectory back in the summer of 1943, little thinking that one day they would own the place!


What James Turner never sought to minimize was his experience in Borley churchyard late one night. On 2 August 1947 he strolled over to the church, soon after midnight, and sat on the step of the priest’s door (leading into the church beside the altar). He must have sat there for three-quarters of an hour before he became aware of something coming up the main path to the church. He saw nothing but ‘plainly heard something or somebody with a lame leg and a swishing skirt’ pass along the path towards the church porch. He found that he was relieved to hear the footsteps go towards the porch and not down the path towards him! The whole episode lasted no more than a few seconds and did not really alarm him ‘until afterwards’. It was a bright moonlit night and there was not a breath of wind. He felt that whoever it was was intent on its own errand and had nothing to do with him. ‘However,’ he added, ‘I do not believe I would have gone along into the church after hearing those sounds.’


Not many weeks after the death of Harry Price, a planchette seance at Borley established contact with an entity calling itself ‘Harry Price’, who stated that the answer to the mysteries of Borley would be found in some documents; unfortunately the whereabouts of these papers was not clear but the then undiscovered crypt of Borley Church seemed to be indicated. Those present at the seance were Mr and Mrs Turner, the Revd John Dening and Mrs Gay Taylor of Chelsea who, a year earlier, had written to Harry Price to say that during the course of a seance she had been given a message to pass on to him – namely that Marie Lairre (the reputed ghost nun) had been born near Le Havre on 27 September 1647 and had later entered a nunnery. The fifth and final sitter at the Rectory Cottage seance was Tommy Frankland, an eccentric young man who was larger than life; then still at Trinity College, Cambridge. Later, one of us (PU) saw quite a lot of Tommy (who came from a wealthy family), at Borley, Langenhoe, at his flat in Cadogan Square and at Peter Underwood’s home, which was at that time in Richmond, Surrey. Frankland put his Rolls Royce at Peter Underwood’s disposal and was deeply interested in the haunting of Borley Rectory. The seance started at 12.30 p.m. Just before 2.30 Tommy, who was becoming sceptical of the proceedings (the communicating entities had included Harry Bull and Lionel Foyster), suddenly asked ‘Harry Bull’ whether, as it was the 21st anniversary of his death, he intended to manifest that night, which brought a clear response, ‘Go to the church now.’ The sitters decided to accept this somewhat dramatic invitation and they went over to the locked church en bloc, seating themselves in the seat-lined porch.


After a while Cathy Turner, who was seated at the end of the porch seat in such a position as to be the first one to see anybody (or anything!) that might walk up the path, broke the uneasy silence by saying in a low voice, ‘I don’t think we ought to be here.’ This seemed to break the spell that most of the watchers felt hanging over them and nothing unusual was experienced in the churchyard that night.


A month later in July 1948, Cathy Turner experienced the slight but very odd happening that she remembered for the rest of her life. Twenty years later when Peter Underwood asked her what she recalled most vividly about her time at haunted Borley, this was the incident she recounted.


She had decided to sit in a deck chair and read for a while; it was a beautiful summer day and she chose a spot underneath the lime trees in the drive that had an uninterrupted and pleasant view of the entire garden and Rectory site. It was quite impossible for anyone to enter the grounds without her seeing them. While she was reading she suddenly became aware of heavy approaching footsteps; they drew nearer to her with growing intensity and then seemed to walk completely around her and gradually faded away. She felt certain they were a man’s footsteps and they sounded as if they were walking on boards – in fact someone walking along a passage. A couple of weeks later she experienced exactly the same sounds in the same place. Footsteps, it has been stated by those who should know, are one of the most common of all reported and unexplained activity in haunted houses. The Turners’ successors at the cottage, and many visitors to the site and nearby churchyard, have repeatedly reported the sound of unexplained footsteps.


In September 1948 the Turners heard the very loud sound of breaking crockery from inside the cottage. It came from the direction of the kitchen. The couple were in the dining-room and rushed into the kitchen to find, to their amazed relief, that nothing had been disturbed. This noise was so loud and alarming that two workmen who were mixing cement in the cottage yard came to the back door to ask what had happened. The sound of crashing and breaking crockery was reported by the Coopers in 1919; the Turners had heard it before and inside the Rectory it was reported by several people including Mark Kerr-Pearse and the Revd Alfred Henning.


Inexplicable footsteps were again experienced, this time by Laurence C. Gafford and James M. Sugg who spent the night of 4 August 1949 at Borley. They were inside their car, together with James and Cathy Turner, talking, when at 11.15 p.m. they all heard light, brisk footsteps from the direction of the lane approaching the cottage. They also heard the sound of a bicycle freewheeling downhill; perhaps, they thought, someone was walking down the lane wheeling a bicycle, but when Laurence Gafford lowered the car window, all sounds ceased completely. They immediately got out of the car and searched for an explanation but they saw no one and found nothing to account for the sounds they had all heard.


During that summer, 1949, an apparently spectral cat made its appearance. During the night of 28 July (traditionally regarded as ‘the Nun’s day’) Cathy Turner was awakened by something scratching at the bedclothes, but immediate investigation failed to reveal any explanation. Exactly a month later on 28 August both James and Cathy Turner were looking out of the open kitchen window when they saw a cat they did not recognize chasing their own cat, Fred. Thin and miserable-looking, grey-white in colour and with a scraggy tail, it was quite unlike any cat they had seen in the neighbourhood. It followed Fred when he shot under the Turners’ car. Fred then ran up the walnut tree for safety, but of his pursuer there was no sign. A careful search inside and under the car, which stood on an open piece of ground at the back of the cottage, revealed no answer. Shortly afterwards both the Turners thought they caught a glimpse of the same singular cat, gliding past an open doorway, and although they instantly looked out of the door, there was no sign of the animal. The ghostly cat was also seen by Ronald Blythe, the writer and former librarian at Colchester Library, when he was quite alone in the locked bathroom.


On 4–5 March 1950, Peter Underwood and Laurence C. Gafford (who once built an interesting model of Borley Rectory at his home in Stevenage, Hertfordshire) spent the night in the Turners’ cottage. The vigil began at 1.00 a.m. after the Turners had retired to bed. In between checking control items periodically the investigators sat by the fire in the lounge. At 2.15 a.m. heavy footsteps and muffled voices were heard overhead, simultaneously by both men. Gafford commented that the Turners were having a disturbed night. Shortly afterwards heavy footsteps and mutterings were again heard by both investigators and yet again at 4.15 a.m. On each occasion the sounds lasted about twenty seconds after the two men keeping vigil first became aware of them. When James and Catherine Turner appeared for breakfast they were surprised to learn of the noises heard and assured their guests that they had both slept soundly and had not awoken until just before they rose in the morning. It is perhaps worth noting that both investigators had spent many hours of daylight and darkness at the cottage during the Turners’ occupation, in all kinds of climatic conditions, yet no sounds remotely resembling heavy footsteps and mutterings or whisperings had been heard by them before or after that visit.


The Turners left the Rectory Cottage on 1 July 1950 and moved to the Mill House, Belchamp Walter. When James died, Cathy Turner passed to Peter Underwood much of her husband’s periodical diary, but it contained no psychic incidents, other than those he wrote about to Peter Underwood.


(Consult Part II Dictionary: James and Catherine Turner, The Face in the Wall, The Beast of Borley)


12. Phenomena in Borley Church


On 16 September 1947 John May of Bury St Edmunds went to Borley again, anxious to see the scene of the hauntings by night. His report to Peter Underwood reads in part as follows:




It was a warm summer night with no breath of wind. I looked at my watch and saw it was 11.43. Suddenly I heard the latch of the churchyard gate click; now the time was 12.16. I do not think that I was actually afraid but I was aware of a certain amount of fear … Then I heard steps coming up the path. They paused for a second near one of the yew trees. The light was clear and there was now a chilliness in the air. The footsteps continued but I could not see anyone anywhere. I then sensed someone passing me and felt a slight pressure. Whatever it was I knew and felt that it was essentially EVIL. I also knew that I resented in some way hearing and not seeing. I then heard the sound of a key in a lock, then the creak of door hinges, then the sound of a door opening, then the sound of a door closing. Although I had not seen anything, had I heard the celebrated Borley ghost go into the church? A few seconds later I heard soft notes and chords of organ music. The time was 12.18.


The music was not in any sequence of notes so as to form a conventional tune, just a jumble of atonal chords (I detest the ‘modern music’ of Hindemith and Honegger, and I remember thinking that this ‘music’ was similar to theirs). I sat on until 2.30 a.m. but heard nothing more. I later heard that several people in the village have heard the organ playing when the church has been locked at night.





The same month Steuart Kiernander was again at Borley and on that occasion he saw a ‘mysterious figure or white shape’ pass the church porch in an east-west direction. On 7 September, Kiernander had been sitting in the church porch for perhaps half an hour when he heard heavy footsteps hurriedly approaching. As he stood up to greet whoever it might be, the sounds ceased instantly. He walked outside the porch but could see nothing to account for the footsteps. It was quite dark along the path leading to the church as the moon was obscured by the tall trees to the east end of the churchyard. Kiernander resumed his seat in the porch and about half an hour later he again heard the footsteps, exactly as before. He waited and listened and had the impression that the footsteps were approaching along the grass at the edge of the path. As they came nearer he could hear the swish of dry grass as well as the even thuds on the turf. He judged the footsteps to be no more than a yard or two from the porch when he had the sudden feeling that perhaps it might be the rector, the Revd Henning, who knew he would be at the church. Not wishing to startle the rector in the darkness of the porch, Kiernander almost ran outside. There was immediate and complete silence; but while on the previous occasion it had been dark in the churchyard, the moon had now cleared the treetops and the whole churchyard and path leading to the church was bathed in the brightest moonlight and was totally deserted. Mr Kiernander felt quite certain that no one playing a practical joke could possibly have hidden in the extremely short time it had taken him to get outside the porch, and was equally sure that had anyone been in the churchyard he would have seen them; to say nothing of the noise anyone must have made as they ran away. Next day Kiernander and Alfred Henning went together to the church and while Kiernander resumed his position in the porch, the rector approached the church along the grass verge on the side of the path. The effect was similar to the footsteps of the previous evening but before they had sounded much heavier.


Two years later in September 1949, Steuart Kiernander again visited Borley Church, and while he was sitting quietly alone in the porch at approximately nine o’clock in the evening he heard a considerable number of taps and clicks on the church door near him and also from, apparently, the rafters in the porch roof. He could find no explanation. He mentioned to one of us (PU) while reporting this incident, that he had sat in Borley Church many times both before and afterwards but he never heard anything like those noises again.


Mysterious organ music has occasionally been reported from Borley Church over the years, mysterious inasmuch as it has been found that the church is apparently deserted at the time that music has been heard emanating from the building. In passing it cannot but be interesting to appreciate that if the music was in any way connected with the organ inside the church, then it would have required air to be pumped into the organ before it could be played; but it has been suggested that the music was ghostly or paranormal in the sense that it was independent of the instrument itself. Evidence of the involvement or otherwise of the organ itself is contradictory. At all events it is evident that unexplained footsteps – apart from music – have been reliably reported from the vicinity of Borley Church, although the cautious and the vigilant will be aware of the possibility of children pranksters and adult hoaxers, however in many cases these contingencies seem to have been eliminated.


Alfred Henning in his Haunted Borley (1949) details several instances of both happenings, together with indications of movement of objects, but in particular an interesting account of unexplained music. This occurrence was reported independently to Peter Underwood by both the rector and the novelist Norah Walrond – winner of a World Short Story Contest in 1954 – and came about when Mrs Walrond asked the rector if he would show her the recently re-dedicated stone altar in Borley Church. Accordingly, just before 3.00 p.m. on 15 October 1947, Mrs Walrond and the Revd Henning were walking towards the church when Mrs Walrond suddenly said, ‘Someone is playing the organ.’ The rector also heard the music but he knew there was no service going on and that no one should have been in the church. Mrs Walrond hung back until the rector appeared at the church door and beckoned her in. The church was completely silent and also deserted. They explored the church inside and outside and both agreed that had someone been producing the music they had both heard, it would have been quite impossible for them to have escaped in the seconds that it took the rector to go into the building. There was no plausible explanation and such music had been heard before. Harry Price reported in The End of Borley Rectory (1946) that a Mr Hardy junior heard ‘singing and chanting’, presumably accompanied by music, when the church was in complete darkness and was empty and locked. There is also a report concerning Mrs Maud Stearn who had been asked to play the organ at Borley Church for a particular service. As she approached she was surprised and not a little annoyed to hear the organ being played, thinking that someone else had taken her place. On reaching the church porch she noticed that the music had ceased and she found the building deserted. This would appear to date from 1955.


(Consult Part II Dictionary: Borley Church (History of), Waldegrave Monument)


13. The Nun Returns – Continued Sightings


In April 1951 the Rectory Cottage was occupied by Mr and Mrs Robert Bacon, their children, Terrance and Jose, and Mrs Bacon’s parents, Mr and Mrs Williams. During their twenty years at the Rectory Cottage both the Bacons, their children and the Williams all reported paranormal activity; Terry claiming to see the phantom nun on several occasions, once disappearing through a gap in a hedge and once ‘gliding’ along a path near the Rectory site. Mr Williams also reported seeing the dark figure of a nun, walking with bowed head along the Nun’s Walk. When he rushed out to intercept the lifelike intruder there was no sign of what he had seen seconds earlier on the now deserted path.


There were also several reports of curious smells, mysterious footsteps, strange lights and the sound of a panting dog on the Nun’s Walk, and more than once Mr Williams awoke in his bedroom to find a strange ‘glow’ hovering over his head. Another time he saw whirling circles of light in his room that he could not explain – just the once – he never saw them again. Peter Underwood visited the Bacons on 8 July 1951 and again twice before they all left in 1972.


On 26 July 1949, a local doctor, a senior partner in a Long Melford medical group, was passing the site of Borley Rectory when she saw the figure of a stooping nun standing by the hedge. She continued on her way for a moment and then felt that perhaps she ought to have stopped and offered a lift. She immediately reversed the car to the point where she had seen the nun only seconds before, but there was no sign of anybody. She had a quick look round but there was nobody about at all. Dr Margaret Abernethy, a no-nonsense Scot, never forgot the incident and told Peter Underwood that the figure appeared to be solid and normal in every way; she plainly saw the face and put the age of the nun at around 40. Both the doctor and the rector, the Revd A.C. Henning, made numerous enquiries at the time but were unable to find any record of a real nun visiting Borley that day.


The previous month had seen further evidence of a figure being seen in Borley churchyard. The Revd Stanley C. Kipling from Bernoldswick, Lancashire, visited Borley to read the lesson at the funeral of a friend. While he was inside the church he saw, from near the porch of the west door, the figure of a veiled girl. As he looked at her she passed behind a shrub, crossed to another close by and then vanished. He immediately went to the spot where she had disappeared but found nothing to explain the appearance or disappearance of the lifelike figure he had seen. In a letter to Peter Underwood dated 17 September 1949 Mr Kipling added that he saw the figure for only a split second but added, ‘I conceived that she was a frail girl, by her stature I should say about eighteen to twenty-three. She had the shape of a nun’s hood on her head from which hung thick veiling – her features were not discernable.’ It is interesting to note that Mr Kipling had known Borley for many years and had always been sceptical of the haunting, but his personal experience made him seriously reconsider the whole story.


In July 1954 there were several reports of apparently paranormal happenings at Borley. One newspaper report states that some local residents had seen the apparition of the ghost nun and, although they were not particularly keen to talk about the matter, one admitted that he had distinctly seen the nun glide rather than walk, near the Rectory site before completely disappearing. Another witness, a woman, claimed to have also seen the nun, this time standing in characteristic pose with head bowed as though in deep trouble; she vanished when the spectator attempted to approach. Commenting on the idea that a science reporter on a national newspaper had tried to debunk the Borley Rectory haunting, Brigadier C.A.L. Brownlow of Sudbury commented, ‘Nonsense, I know two people who have seen the apparition.’


During 1955, 1956 and 1957 a series of planchette seances were organised by Len Sewell, then living in a caravan on the Rectory site. Those usually taking part were Len Sewell himself and the five occupants of the Rectory Cottage: Mrs Williams (her husband had died), Mr and Mrs Bacon, and Terry and Jose Bacon. The alleged communicators included Harry Price, Marie Lairre, H.D.E. Bull, Dominic Drossy, A.C. Henning and Henry Waldegrave. The communications themselves were equally varied calling for ‘more digging’ and implying that the church plate and eight gold pieces were buried beneath the cellar floor; that the nun had been murdered by being drowned, the murderer being Leslie Waldegrave acting on the orders of Dominic Drossy, a Benedictine monk; they were told that the cream jug found in the excavation of the well had been put there by some of the Bulls’ servants; that the human remains had come from the churchyard; that ‘Marie Lairre’ wanted her body found; it was in the cellar, and she said that she would get no peace until this was done. Her final words were simple and dramatic: ‘Must I walk this earth for ever?’ There the board went dead.


In July 1956 Dr Peter Hilton-Rowe of Ardleigh near Colchester drove to Borley to show a friend the site of the haunted Rectory. As they reached the village Dr Hilton-Rowe stopped the car where the old Rectory gate had once stood and his friend turned towards him as he listened to the ghost story, his back to the Rectory site. Dr Hilton-Rowe, looking towards the gateway and the Nun’s Walk beyond, suddenly became aware of the clear figure of a nun running past the gateway with quick, short steps, her coif flowing behind her. The figure, he later told Peter Underwood, was dressed all in black and since her habit was not voluminous he gained the impression that she was a novice. Immediately both men emerged from the car and quickly examined the whole area but there was no sign of any person anywhere.


After giving a talk to the London Appreciation Society a member of the audience approached Peter Underwood and said his father Arthur Sellwood was once in the company of the Revd Lionel Foyster and the Revd Bernard Smith, in the hall of Borley Rectory, when a stone fell from nowhere; when Sellwood picked it up it felt warm. Sadly Mr Sellwood senior was unwell and, his doctor having told him he must take things very quietly, could not agree to a personal interview, but his son assured Peter Underwood that when he was in Suffolk in October 1960 he had met and talked with someone who had heard the sound of galloping horses’ hooves close to the site of Borley Rectory for which he could find no explanation. Peter Underwood was unable to obtain any further details.


One day during the early part of 1960, Canon Edward Powell, vicar of nearby Belchamp St Paul, saw an unexplained figure at Borley. He was on his bicycle and was passing the Rectory grounds when he was surprised to see a shadowy figure dressed in long robes move into the roadway in front of him from the hedge bordering the old Rectory site; the figure then melted back into the hedge. Canon Powell dismounted and entered the former Rectory site but a careful search revealed no possible explanation for what he had seen. There was no doubt, in Canon Powell’s opinion, that Borley was a haunted place. In July 1966 Gerald Kelman paid an overnight visit to Borley with a few friends and he sent a report to Peter Underwood. At about 5.00 a.m. all three, Gerald Kelman, Jane Conolly and Margaret Conolly, heard footsteps and saw a grey-blue shape in the half-light, vaguely human and covered from head to toe with what appeared to be a flowing garment.


(Consult Part II Dictionary: Len Sewell, Excavations, Seance Data)


14. The 1970s and the Croom-Hollingsworth Investigation


In the summer of 1971, Eddie Brazil made the first of many subsequent visits to Borley after becoming intrigued with the Rectory story through reading a copy of Price’s ‘The Most Haunted House in England’ in a local library. In September of the following year he returned and took photographs of the church and the former Rectory Cottage with a simple camera. When these were developed, one picture of the church showed a distinct outline amongst the gravestones, unmistakably like that of a nun-like or robed figure.


Around the same time during 1970–1972 a series of visits to Borley were carried out under the leadership of Geoffrey Croom-Hollingsworth and Roy Potter. They and their friends carried out numerous ‘investigative visits’, which included the use of delicate scientific instruments, tape recorders and walkie-talkie equipment. They apparently succeeded in recording ghost music, ghost voices and other paranormal sounds, especially in the vicinity of the locked and empty church, and claimed a sighting of the phantom nun that was under observation, so they said, for up to twelve minutes.


This remarkable sighting occurred in the early morning of 20 June 1970. Croom-Hollingsworth was in the corner of the garden of one of the bungalows built on the old Rectory grounds, keeping an eye on the area that was formerly the Nun’s Walk. At 1.50 a.m. he became icy cold and at the same time he saw the ‘Nun’. When he first saw her the ghostly figure was near the lower end of the former path and she drifted, about a foot above ground level, towards a fence bordering the old Rectory site. The figure appeared to be solid and normal but then it passed through the fence and disappeared across the site of the old Rectory in the direction of the cottage.


Croom-Hollingsworth contacted two of his companions, Roy Potter and Frank Connell, by portable two-way radio. They claimed to see the figure as well and Croom-Hollingsworth was able to give a detailed description of the apparition which he described as that of a woman in her sixties, not the young person normally reported. Later, all three men sent Peter Underwood independent written reports and subsequently they were interviewed several times. On 13 July 1972 they informed Peter Underwood that they had seen the same figure, that of a ghostly nun, again near the Rectory site earlier in the year. On that occasion, a bright moonlit night, Roy Potter, wondering whether the figure was a phantom form or a human being masquerading as the nun, threw a brick at it; the object went clean through the figure which remained visible and unmoved.


Meanwhile, another reported sighting came from Mrs Hilary Wright, a former nurse, who stated in 1995 that she saw the figure of a nun one night during the autumn of 1971. Apparently both Mrs Wright and her companion, who was driving her home, saw the figure of a nun standing on the Lower Road (before it becomes Hall Lane) that once led to Borley Rectory. The figure, clearly discernable since it was a moonlit night, appeared to be dressed in long grey robes and stood above the level of the road. Her mother described many years later seeing what appeared to be an ‘old-fashioned coach’ in the same area. This lady also stated that she had once seen a diary that had belonged to Miss Ethel Bull when she was young which included such comments as ‘we saw the nun in the garden today’. This diary has not been located and would appear to contradict Miss Ethel Bull’s later testimony regarding her sightings of the ghost nun.


The investigations of Croom-Hollingsworth had seemingly impressed David Ellis, a young researcher at Cambridge who was a member of the SPR, and he now suggested that experimentation inside Borley Church with a tape-recorder might prove interesting. Here film executive Denny Densham comes into the picture. Sounds were obtained that the investigators ‘firmly believed to be the sound of a ghost stepping forward and opening something that sounds like a door’. Later, several nights were spent inside the church and a number of odd sounds and other incidents were recorded. Many of these sounds were included during the course of a television broadcast and the producer Hugh Burnett specifically told Peter Underwood that he had understood that every effort had been made to find a physical cause for the sounds recorded and the investigators were satisfied that there was nothing inside the church that could be responsible for them. During the course of a visit to the Borley area with Hugh Burnett for the purpose of filming, Peter Underwood took Burnett round the church; within a very few moments he located objects that could have made it possible for every noise in the recording to have a natural explanation.


(Consult Part II Dictionary: Geoffrey Croom-Hollingsworth, Denny Densham, The Ghost of Borley Church, Brazil Borley Photograph)


15. Further into the Seventies – More Experiences


Comedian Michael Bentine had a considerable interest in the paranormal and had some truly remarkable personal experiences, but it was his father Adam, who was also psychic, who had an experience in Borley Church in 1974. As he walked down the aisle approaching the altar, he felt very, very cold and said he felt there was something present that was evil and very frightening. He did what he could but Michael Bentine told Peter Underwood that he had never seen his father so affected by a building and certainly nothing would persuade him to visit Borley again.


In April 1974 Mr L.W. Butler of Cambridge, who told Peter Underwood that he had been interested in ghosts for more than forty years, went to Borley initially with the idea of examining and photographing the Waldegrave tomb. At one spot near the tomb he felt a distinct cold draught of air, almost as if it was coming through a hole, but he could find no possible explanation to account for the isolated ‘cold spot’ although (once again) outside it was a fairly warm day. While he was close to the Waldegrave tomb Mr Butler heard a regular thump-thump, almost like a church clock, and this noise continued for a little while and then ceased. A similar experience of coldness was reported by Dennis Christian of Golden Lane, East London, the following year.


In November 1975 Mr D. Wright of Chingford, East London, went to Borley with four friends. They parked their two cars near the church and at about two o’clock in the middle of the night, as they sat together in one car, they all heard footsteps, light and shuffling, almost like someone brushing over the gravel and dead leaves. One of the drivers, leaning out of his car window, saw the figure of a woman leaning on the churchyard gate and the same figure was then seen by the whole party. After a moment the figure was no longer there! Clear and distinct one moment, completely vanished the next.


[image: illustration]


An infra-red photograph of the Rectory Cottage taken by Ray Armes in 1973. The derelict Rectory site is to the left. (Photo: Peter Underwood Collection).


On 26 March 1976 Stephen White, Paul de Vos, Nigel Nettlefield and Michael Oakes, all from Barnet, Hertfordshire, visited Borley and spent the night in the vicinity of the church porch. They recorded the sounds they heard, sending full reports and a copy of the tape to Peter Underwood. They also sent a copy tape to the Society for Psychical Research. With the co-operation of Mrs Payne, the church warden, the church was unlocked and they placed a microphone on the pulpit. Stephen White noticed a definite ‘cold spot’ near the Waldegrave tomb and he too described it as ‘like a breeze’ but he could find no explanation. They all left the church and Mrs Payne locked the church door and said she would be over to open it again about 8.30 a.m. the next morning. She left them at 9.55 p.m.


At five minutes past eleven they all heard the sound of movement from within the church and a loud ‘bang’, which was so loud that it startled all the watchers. At 12.30 two of the party went for a walk that lasted about half-an-hour, the remaining two having nothing of moment to report during their absence. Around 3.00 a.m. the wind started to pick up and it became quite cold in the porch. One of the party claimed he could hear the sounds of someone moving around inside the church but the others did not hear anything. Nothing else transpired and after a walk to Borley Green and back and some breakfast they decided to play back the tape to see whether anything had been recorded from inside the church.


On the tape there was a mixture of ‘eerie’ sounds: there were some odd bangs and also some crashing sounds and a most peculiar dragging noise almost like heavy furniture being moved. Mrs Payne arrived to unlock the church door and they asked her whether anyone could have got into the church during the night. She took them to the priest’s door and they confirmed that it was securely locked and bolted. They looked all around the church but nothing appeared to have been moved. Mrs Payne then left them. They decided to hear the tape again and they played it inside the church, and while they were listening to it ‘the most frightening thing happened’. The priest’s door appeared to be rattled by somebody or something and they then heard about six footsteps walk across the front of the church, by the altar. They looked inside and outside and found the place totally deserted.


In 1979 Peter Emeth of Eastleigh, Southampton, spent an uneventful night in Borley Church with the exception of hearing three heavy sighs – somewhat similar to those that had been recorded on tape in 1974 by Denny Densham, as he told Peter Underwood personally in August 1984.


(Consult Part II Dictionary: Enfield Parapsychical Research Group)


16. A Century of Paranormal Experiences


The beginning of the 1980s saw the whole of the former grounds of Borley Rectory built on and in private hands, and ghost hunters and paranormal investigators over the past twenty-five to thirty years have by necessity focused their attention on the church and the churchyard. In 1982 society clairvoyant Tom Corbett, long known to Peter Underwood, was a guest on a Radio Two lunchtime show and when a caller asked about Borley, Corbett revealed that he had visited Borley Church and there he had clairvoyantly seen inside the church ‘a clever and youthful nun’ who ‘continued to serve there’. He had also talked with the owner of the farm adjoining the Rectory site and the farmer said that he took his dogs on the site every day without any problems, but towards the end of July each year they refused to go near the Rectory site and would run home and hide themselves under the kitchen table!


On 28 July 1984 Philip Dickinson of Shipley, West Yorkshire, visited Borley for two nights accompanied by Sean Lee. They heard a few odd sounds while they were inside the church, scraping noises, bumps and bangs, all of which seemed to come from the direction of the altar. They had previously remarked upon the complete absence of any particular atmosphere but now they became aware of a subtle change and the temperature seemed to be dropping, especially in the vicinity of the Waldegrave tomb where Philip Dickinson became so chilled that the flesh on his arms stood up in goose-pimples although outside it was a hot and sunny day. They discovered that the sounds, which they had been inclined to put down to birds or slumbering bats stirring, were only heard when they occupied the pews adjacent to the Waldegrave tomb; when one of them moved and sat beside the altar in an effort to determine the exact location of the sounds, they suddenly and completely ceased. When they resumed their positions in the pews, the shuffling and surreptitious scrapes and bumps recommenced. ‘It was as if someone were moving around beside the altar,’ their official report states, ‘endeavouring to be as quiet as possible and not quite managing it’. Then they both heard the sounds of someone walking quietly up the central aisle of the church, padding across the carpet. There was no visible explanation.


Seating themselves again in pews near the Waldegrave tomb they both heard vague and ‘gravelly’ footsteps outside the church and ran out to investigate but found the whole churchyard completely deserted. Philip Dickinson says: ‘All this could be attributed to the stirrings of an excitable imagination. The noises could conceivably be explained by the contraction and expansion of ancient timbers in the structure of the building in response to the warmth of the sun or something similar … some of the sounds we heard could be attributed to simple everyday causes. I’m equally certain that some of them could not.’ The rest of the visit was completely uneventful except for one instance during the night of 29 July, which they spent in the church porch. They were both awakened about 3.30 a.m. by a loud bang or rap that came from within the church. It seemed to originate a short distance from the other side of the church door. They waited in some anticipation but the noise was not repeated and they went back to sleep. Next morning they had a good look around to see whether anything had fallen over but they found nothing.


[image: illustration]


The end of Borley Rectory. Rubbish and debris litter the driveway in the months leading up to the demolition of the building. (Photo: Senate House Library, University of London).


Philip Dickinson also visited Borley a week later, 8–10 August, and this time in addition to Sean Lee he was accompanied by Craig Lavender and Peter Marriot. They had with them two SLR cameras equipped with very fast (1000 ASA) film together with some high-quality recording equipment with tapes affording over seven hours of recording time. They had intended to ask for permission to place a microphone inside the church but they noticed that one diamond-shaped piece of glass was missing from the window adjacent to the Waldegrave monument. They managed to tape the microphone to a leg of the camera tripod and, taking care not to damage the window any further, they succeeded in placing the microphone through the opening and resting it on a corner of one parapet of the monument, pointing towards the main doorway. They began recording at midnight.


They obtained several strange sounds: a very loud bang, followed by a noise that resembled tin-tacks falling to the ground. These sounds were heard independently by Peter Marriot who was outside the church. Another recorded sound resembled the ‘tick-tock’ of a grandfather clock; another sounded like a jug of water being set down on wood. Next day they placed their microphone on the altar facing down the aisle towards the font and they recorded all sorts of clunks and knocks. They regularly checked to establish that there was no one about. They recorded what they described as a ‘whispered prayer’ which lasted 15–20 seconds; it sounded unmistakably ‘human’ in origin, a whispering voice, in diction and delivery, sounding very pious and quite eerie, but beyond the level at which individual words could be distinguished. All the sounds gradually faded away and by 2.00 a.m. there was complete silence. At one point during the night all the visitors noticed a pungent and unpleasantly earthy smell which vanished as suddenly as it had arrived.


One visitor who found his photographic apparatus malfunctioning was John Hawes of Lee, South East London, who spent a day at Borley in March 1985 accompanied by a friend. After a brief glance at the Rectory site they made their way to the church, having obtained permission and the necessary key, and they found nothing untoward about the building. They took several photographs, the light being perfectly adequate for hand-held photography with the meter registering the large aperture expected under such conditions. Upon leaving the church another picture was taken of the exterior of the building, again under perfectly ordinary conditions. They returned the key and left Borley calling at Long Melford on the way hone, where more photographs were taken. Receiving the film back from the processors a few weeks later John Hawes was extremely surprised to find all the Borley pictures missing. On examining the negatives he found the relevant frames were completely blank. All the other photographs on the roll of film, both internal and external, had come out, although admittedly the quality varied a little. The camera, a Canon AE1, which he had had over five years, was consistently reliable and never failed him or gave him cause for concern under adequate conditions – except when he went to Borley. He never solved the mystery.


17. Afterword


Later incidents in the history of the Borley haunting are many and varied. Some of these reported occurrences may well have had a natural explanation but there can be little doubt that although paranormal phenomena at Borley has considerably lessened over the years, it has by no means completely ceased and whether we like it or not it would seem that the ghosts at Borley have yet to be placated.




PART II


The Borley Haunting


An Encyclopaedic Dictionary


INDEX OF ENTRIES


A


AICKMAN, ROBERT FORDYCE



(Born London, 27 June 1914; died 26 February 1981) Founded Inland Waterways Association in 1946. Friend and associate of Sir Peter Scott and grandson of Victorian novelist Richard Marsh who penned a popular supernatural thriller The Beetle, published the same year as Stoker’s Dracula. Aickman himself wrote some of the most original ghost stories of the second half of the twentieth century for which he won the World Fantasy Award in 1978 in America; his tale Ringing the Changes is a classic.


Always deeply interested in psychical research, he was a Member of the Ghost Club Society for many years, addressing the Club on a number of occasions. He knew Harry Price well and once said Price’s ‘love of public speaking was only equalled by his badness as a public speaker’, but he respected Price’s work in psychic matters, especially his original approach to the Borley haunting. Aickman visited Borley on several occasions – in an article entitled ‘Postscript to Harry Price’ in London Mystery Magazine (August 1950) he spoke of these visits and he sent reports to Price. At one point he proposed a venture to buy the Rectory ruins in order to allow the site and its phenomena to be studied on a regular basis, using the Rectory Cottage as a centre of operations, thereby continuing the work that Price had carried out in 1937 and 1938 (see Price Tenancy) but this came to nothing. He was also a friend of Peter Underwood for nearly forty years.


AMBROSE, ERNEST



(Born 1878; died 1972) Interviewed by Peter Underwood and Steuart Kiernander at his home in Sudbury in 1969 when he was 91 years of age; he was still sprightly and in full command of his faculties and lived for several more years. He was organist at Borley for many years, first taking up the position at the age of 18 during the incumbency of the Revd Harry Bull whom he came to know well. He is shown in a group photograph of the Borley choir taken in 1911 in which Revd Harry Bull also appears and which today hangs in the tower of Borley Church. A photograph taken by him of Borley Rectory was used by a Canadian newspaper with drawings of a flying nun and a coach and horses added. His Melford Memories (1972) was published posthumously. See the Newspaper Articles entry for his article ‘That Ghost Again’, outlining his associations with Borley.


AMHERST MYSTERY



Described by Dr Nandor Fodor as ‘one of the most famous poltergeist cases in the world’, the so-called Great Amherst Mystery took place over eleven months at Amherst, Nova Scotia from September 1878 to July 1879.


Number 6, Princess Street, was a bright and clean yellow-painted wooden house consisting of a ground floor with four rooms and an entrance hall, and a first floor with four bedrooms. It was the home of Daniel Teed, a God-fearing and hard-working shoemaker of 35 (a foreman at Amherst Shoe Factory) and his wife Olive and their two small sons; in addition there were two of Mrs Teed’s unmarried sisters, Jean and Esther Cox (aged 21 and 18), their brother William and John Teed, brother of Daniel. The whole family were active members of the Wesleyan Methodist Church.


The attempted rape of Esther Cox seems to have sparked a spectacular display of strange happenings that centred on the 18-year-old simple-hearted village girl; happenings that were curiously mirrored in the disturbances at Borley Rectory during the Foyster incumbency fifty years later.


As at Borley Rectory, there was little for the Amherst family to do in those days before television, cinemas or radio, and both families tended to retire early. At both Amherst and Borley there was apparent movement of the mattresses when the beds were occupied, resulting in the occupants being tipped out onto the floor. Also at both places there were definite sounds of movement, as well as inexplicable repositioning of objects including bedclothes; loud raps and taps; readable and indecipherable messages were written on walls; objects were thrown; there were attempts at holding seances and clergymen offered prayers; there were unexplained voices; threats to burn the house down and small fires were started; there was even physical violence to both Esther at Amherst and to Marianne Foyster at Borley (see Foyster Phenomena and Apparitions). Critics have also pointed to other coincidences in the two stories of haunting such as the use of the surname Teed by Lionel Foyster in his Fifteen Months in a Haunted House and the fact that both young women were subject to attacks of ill-health and so on.


Lionel and Marianne Foyster lived for a time at Sackville, close to Amherst and it is likely that the Foysters heard about the happenings there. Marianne Foyster initially denied this, but later when interviewed in the 1970s contradicted herself by saying that Lionel Foyster knew about Hubbell’s book on the haunting and intended to write one of his own about Borley. The mysterious happenings in the Teed home ceased as inexplicably as they began and in later years Esther (who always believed in the supernatural origin of the manifestations) would not talk about those dark days because she was ‘afraid they would come back’.


Consult: Walter Hubbell, The Haunted House: A True Ghost Story. Being an Account of the Mysterious Manifestations that have taken place in the Presence of Esther Cox …The Great Amherst Mystery (Saint John, N.B. 1879); Hereward Carrington & Nandor Foder, The Story of the Poltergeist Down the Centuries (Rider, 1953); Hereward Carrington, Personal Experiences of Spiritualism (T. Warner Laurie, 1913); Peter Underwood, Hauntings – New Light on the Greatest True Ghost Stories of the World (J.M. Dent, 1977).


ANONYMOUS LETTER, THE



(See also Borley Hysteria) Harry Price called it ‘the most fantastic story ever recorded at Borley’. He describes the contents: ‘An elderly lady and her brother witness the arrival of the famous “coach and pair” [see Phantom Coach]. They see the occupants (in period dress) descend at the Rectory, return to the coach. They imagine there is a pageant in the neighbourhood and do not connect the incident with the haunting. They watch, in daylight, the scene for several minutes. The coach drives off. Suddenly, the equipage rises in the air, disintegrates, the various limbs, wheels, etc. falling in all directions.’ This record, reminiscent of the famous Versailles visions, was sent to the editor of the Suffolk Free Press, who forwarded it to H.P. He received it on 10 June 1947.


Price intended to reproduce the whole of the letter in his projected Borley III. The letter is published in full in Borley Postscript (2001) and the original letter forms part of the Peter Underwood Archive Material.


APPARITIONS



(See also Phenomena) Several different visual materialisations were reported at Borley during the time that the Rectory was standing and one of these, the apparition of a nun, has become one of the most famous ghosts of all time. In the years following the demolition of the ruins and the redevelopment of the grounds, several people have claimed to have seen this apparition and other strange phenomena in the vicinity of Borley Church and the former garden of Borley Rectory. The various Borley apparitions are listed and described below in chronological order according to the various incumbencies. (NB. The term ‘apparition’ used here defines a human form or a shape recognisable as that of a person – for other visual phenomena see the main entry on Phenomena).


Bull Incumbency (1862–1927)


Girl in White. Like several incidents involving apparitions during the Bull years, this is a singular incident of uncertain date but seems to have occurred around the late 1890s or just after the turn of the century. Two of the Bull sisters were standing with a housemaid beside one of the drive gates, looking out over the fields on the north-east side of the Rectory grounds, when they recognised a friend walking some distance away in the direction of Long Melford station. Walking behind the woman was a girl wearing a white dress and, although nothing unusual was thought at the time, when the sisters met their friend at a later date and remembered the occasion of seeing her accompanied by the figure, they were told quite emphatically that the woman had been walking that day without a companion. Obviously this incident relies on the uncorroborated testimony of two apparently unnamed members of the Bull family, but it appears that the sisters were convinced that they saw the figure at a time when their friend was adamant she was unaccompanied and it was a significant enough incident to be mentioned to Harry Price when he visited Borley for the first time in June 1929.


Screaming Girl. Although not an apparition as such it is worth mentioning an uncorroborated and somewhat fanciful incident which tends to prove that Borley hysteria was present during the time of the Bulls as well as the post-Harry Price years; the tale was apparently told to Price by a local man from Sudbury. The story goes that on an unknown date – although believed to have taken place shortly after the Rectory was built in 18631 – a girl, possibly wearing a blue dress, was seen hanging dangerously from the sill of the Blue Room window on the south-east side of the Rectory, screaming for help. She eventually lost her grip and fell to her death through the glass verandah roof (see Floor Plans). This alleged event has been connected with two incidents (see below) of the figure of a woman or girl being seen in the window of the Blue Room in the closing years of the Rectory’s existence, but there is no factual evidence for it ever having taken place. What also makes this story unconvincing is that a glance at any of the photographs taken of the south-east elevation of the Rectory shows that the verandah roof pitched directly from under the bedroom window sill, leaving no space for anyone to dangle screaming in the way the incident has been described.


Dark-Clothed Man. This particular apparition, the figure of an old man wearing dark, old-fashioned clothes and a tall hat, was reported by Miss Ethel Bull to have been seen by her on several occasions inside the Rectory. She would often awaken to find the person standing beside her bed and on at least two other occasions she felt the presence of someone sitting on the bed although nothing was visible. The authors of the Borley Report felt that Harry Price manufactured the several alleged occurrences of this particular ghost in his first Borley book from just one incident that Ethel Bull later described to Trevor Hall in a letter written in April 1953, but this is contradicted by the fact that fifteen years earlier, when she was visited by Sidney Glanville, Miss Ethel made the statement that ‘on a great many occasions, she was awakened by the presence of a figure of a man in a tall hat standing by her bed’.2


Phantom Nun. The most famous of the Borley ghosts is that of a female figure resembling a Roman Catholic Sister of Mercy that was reported as being seen several times during the time that the Bulls lived at the Rectory, although the first apparent sighting of the apparition dates from approximately twenty years before the building of the house (see Chronology, 1843). Several members of the Bull family, including the Revd Harry Bull, claimed to see the figure as did visitors including P. Shaw Jeffrey and members of the staff (see Edward Cooper), and its appearance is given as the reason for the bricking-up of the Dining Room window (see Floor Plans) on the north-east side of the Rectory. The most famous appearance was on July 28th 1900 when the apparition was seen by four of the Bull sisters in daylight, each from a different viewpoint. (See also the main entry for the Phantom Nun and Fred Cartwright).


Phantom Coach. Like the nun, the Borley coach has been represented in all periods of the Rectory story until quite recent times and was apparently both seen and heard3 during the time that Harry Bull was rector, who claimed to have seen it himself on several occasions. The most famous appearance from the Bull incumbency was sometime between 1916–1919 when Edward Cooper reported seeing the coach for a period of around thirty seconds from a vantage point in a window of the Rectory Cottage. (See the main entry for the Phantom Coach).


Headless Man. Reported by the Revd Harry Bull on one occasion during the time he lived at the Rectory, the recording of the incident involving this particular apparition has become somewhat confused over time and is also known as the incident of the ‘legless man’. Attempts to discredit this particular occurrence have relied on this later confusion together with the quality of Price’s own versions of it in his Borley books, but what is clear – even at this distance in time – is that the Revd Bull had a singular experience which he could not explain in a rational way, and it made a suitable impression on members of his family, so much so that it was thought important enough to be described to Price by the Bull sisters when he first visited Borley Rectory. During the meeting, Price’s secretary Miss Lucy Kaye took notes and from these Price was later able to include the incident in MHH where he described Harry Bull’s encounter with a headless apparition. Price wrote this account ten years after his meeting with Ethel and Freda Bull and it is now impossible to know whether they described the incident in terms of a headless figure or whether this was something that Price contributed as an embellishment to make the event more uncanny. Lucy Kaye’s original notes are held at the University of London and are as follows:


[image: illustration]


Ernest Ambrose’s ‘doctored’ photograph of Borley Rectory complete with phantom nun and spectral coach and horses as it was published in a Canadian newspaper in the 1940s. The original was probably taken during the time the Foysters were in residence. (Photo: Peter Underwood Collection/Mary Evans Picture Library).




Juvenal, retriever, terrified & growled saw man’s legs, rest hid by fruit trees, thought poacher, followed with Juvenal, gate shut, but saw legs disappear thro’ gate.





What is clearly apparent is that as recorded by Miss Kaye, the incident features neither a headless man nor a legless one – it simply records that Harry Bull saw the lower half of a person amongst the trees in the Rectory grounds who he assumed was up to no good. Only when the figure moved away and apparently passed clean through a closed gateway was it clear that the person was in fact an apparition. When he presented the incident in his first Borley book, Price kept true to his secretary’s recording of the incident but directly after describing the rector’s initial sighting of the figure, added the following qualification:




The legs moved, and when they had cleared the bushes, Harry Bull saw that they belonged to a man who was headless [Price’s italics].4





From this point on the Revd Bull’s experience was described in terms of an encounter with a headless figure and Price reported the incident in a similar way six years later in EBR. No date is given as to when the incident occurred but it appears to have been some time around the mid-1880s when Harry Bull was a young man and his father was still rector.5 As for the figure becoming at a later date the ‘legless man’, this came about due to an error in a script written by one of us (PU) for a slide lecture on the Borley haunting presented at various venues during the 1970s. When this script was published in 20016 the mistake was unfortunately not corrected. Despite its reporting over the years, the experience remains an unexplained one.


The only other report of a headless apparition at Borley during the Bull incumbency is connected with Harry Bull’s sighting of the phantom coach, as on one particular occasion he claimed to have seen the coach with ‘one man on [the] box without [a] head’.7


Little Old Man (Old Amos). Another undated Harry Bull experience concerns his encounter with the small figure of an old man who he apparently saw on the Rectory lawn one day. The man was standing with one hand pointing toward the sky while the other was directed at the ground and the Revd Bull got close enough to take note of the person’s face, the features of which he felt were similar to those of a man known as Old Amos, who had been employed as a gardener by the Bull family around two hundred years previously at the end of the seventeenth century. Amos was a well-known character in the family’s history and stories about him had been handed down over the years. Little more about this particular incident is noted in the Borley literature – presumably the figure vanished at some point as Harry Bull approached. It must be mentioned that there is no evidence for this occurrence other than the testimony of Harry Bull that was later passed on by the rector’s sisters to Price when he first went to Borley. Whether the black shape ‘in the form of a little man’8, that Mr and Mrs Cooper reported seeing running around their bedroom in the Rectory Cottage early one morning in 1919, is connected to the ‘Old Amos’ apparition is open to debate.


The ‘Old Amos’ apparition has become associated with a photograph taken at Borley on 28 July 1975 by a visitor, Ray Armes from Norwich. Mr Armes took several photographs of the former Rectory grounds and in one of them – a shot adjacent to the Rectory Cottage looking through what would have been one of the old drive gates – it has been claimed by some observers that the figure of a wizened old man with one arm pointing upwards can be discerned amongst the foliage (see Photographs of Phenomena). However, close examination of the photograph shows that the ‘apparition’ is in fact caused by the unusual effects of the sunlight on the ordinary foliage itself.


Smith Incumbency (1928–1930)


Phantom Nun. In the period between the departure of the Bulls from Borley Rectory and the end of the Revd Guy E. Smith’s tenure as rector, the apparition of the nun was alleged to have been seen several times. Sometime during the eighteen months that the Rectory stood empty, before the Smiths arrived, the experience of Fred Cartwright took place and soon after the next rector had established himself in the position, his staff began to experience the phenomenon as well. A maidservant from Clacton9 gave in her notice and left after only two days in service, claiming that she had seen the figure of a nun walking among the trees in the woodland on the east side of the garden (see Rectory Grounds). The Smith’s replacement maid, Mary Pearson, also reported seeing the nun leaning over one of the driveway gates. Mabel Smith, despite her later denials regarding the haunting of the Rectory, also claimed to see a dark figure in a similar aspect. Another appearance of note of this particular apparition was during the first visit of Harry Price to Borley, when on the evening of 12 June a newspaper reporter, Vernon C. Wall, claimed to see a dark shadow moving along the Nun’s Walk during a vigil in the garden which was taken to be that of the ghost nun.


Henry (Harry) Bull. The apparition of the former rector is reported to have made several appearances in the story of the haunting. Although apparently not mentioned to anyone at the time, the first incident had to wait until 1949 before being disclosed when Mabel Smith, in a signed statement to the SPR investigators, claimed that while visiting the Rectory, Harry Price had told her husband that he could see the apparition of Harry Bull wearing a dressing gown and standing behind the Revd Smith while they stood talking.10 Given the contradictory nature of much of Mrs Smith’s later testimony regarding her experiences at Borley, this incident should be clearly disregarded and is mentioned here only for completeness.


Headless Man. As well as the nun, the headless apparition seen by Harry Bull was also reported during the time that the Smiths were at the Rectory. On the occasion of his first visit, Mary Pearson told Price that she had seen the apparition in the Rectory garden standing behind a tree, although she later retracted this when interviewed by Eric Dingwall and Trevor Hall in the early 1950s.11 Much has been made in later criticisms of the Borley case of Miss Pearson’s apparent levity with regard to the Rectory haunting, but when Edward Babbs interviewed two of her children during the course of his own research12, he found that this attitude was lacking in the accounts that she had given to her own family, and reports of her laughing while describing incidents to Harry Price in 1929 are based on the unreliable testimony of Mabel Smith. Whether Mary Pearson did see the headless figure at Borley we shall never know but it should be mentioned that her boyfriend at the time, Fred Tatum (whom she later married), and who visited her at the Rectory, is said to have been mistaken for a ghost when walking about in the garden with his coat over his head during a rainstorm.


Phantom Coach. During May 1929, Mary Pearson claimed to see the phantom coach looking something like a big cab and pulled by two bay horses moving across the Rectory lawn and disappearing into the shrubbery. A photograph of her pointing to the spot where she alleged the apparition disappeared was taken by a photographer from the Daily Mirror (see also Photographs of Borley Rectory). Mabel Smith also reported an incident late one evening when, alone in the house, she heard and saw a large vehicle with headlamps on the front pull up in the driveway, but was not there when her husband returned shortly afterwards – this by association is claimed to be the ghostly coach.


Foyster Incumbency (1930–1935)


Henry (Harry) Bull. The claimant to the second appearance of Harry Bull at Borley was Marianne Foyster who said she saw the figure of the former rector on at least two occasions dressed in a plum-coloured dressing-gown (said to be identical with one that Harry Bull used to wear) standing on the main staircase soon after they had taken up residence in the house. There is also evidence that Mrs Mitchell from the Rectory Cottage saw the figure through the landing window over the main staircase and other Borley locals are also reported as witnessing the same figure at a time when the Rectory was known to be empty, so Marianne’s claims cannot be dismissed out of hand.


Unsubstantiated Apparitions. Due to the unusual relationships which prevailed between members of the Borley household during the time that the Foysters lived at the Rectory, several of the apparitions reported from this period are very subjective, stemming ultimately from the relationship of Marianne Foyster and Frank Pearless, who were the sole witnesses, and should in truth be disregarded as examples of genuine phenomena. These include a black bat-like monstrosity which touched Marianne with an iron-like grip as she was passing the kitchen door (see Chronology, 28 March 1931); a ‘phantom’ that Pearless alleged he saw entering the Foyster’s bedroom (see Blue Room) and which assaulted him and blacked his eye (see Chronology, October/November 1931); and the ‘nasty thing’13 which gave Adelaide Foyster a bruise when she was standing near the curtains in her bedroom (Room No. 3 – see Floor Plans).


Henning Incumbency and Price Tenancy (1936–1938)


Phantom Nun. A single sighting of the nun was reported during the tenancy of the Rectory by Harry Price (see Chronology, 18–19 February 1938), although there has been much discussion as to the conditions under which the alleged apparition was seen and the incident was dismissed by the authors of the Borley Report as being due to the powers of suggestion afforded by the contents of the Blue Book of Instructions. The observer, Mrs Lloyd Williams, claimed to see ‘a round dark object’ which may have been a ‘short, stooping figure’14, and although the incident was championed by Price it remains unsatisfactory.


Henning Incumbency and Capt. Gregson (1939–1944)


Rectory Fire Apparitions. Several apparitions were reported in or near the burning Rectory building on the night of 27/28 February 1939. They were apparently seen by several of the villagers as they watched the spectacle of the Rectory going up in flames and a police constable also reported phenomena. According to Price in MHH they were: the figure of a girl (possibly wearing a blue dress) and a ‘formless figure’15 seen moving amongst the flames near the Blue Room window; a woman in grey and a man wearing a bowler hat were also seen by the policeman in front of Capt. Gregson as he crossed the courtyard while the building was burning. Further qualification that these latter two figures were ‘cloaked’ was given to Price by Gregson when the two men met shortly after the fire occurred.


Girl in Blue. A month after the fire took place, one of the last apparitions to be reported inside the Rectory itself was seen again in the Blue Room window (see Chronology, 26 March 1939). The two observers claimed to see the figure of a girl or a small woman dressed in blue (or possibly white, as the two accounts differ) suddenly pass by the burnt-out window opening and remain visible for several seconds before moving out of sight.


Cambridge Commission and Polish Officer Apparitions. In the five years before the ruins of Borley Rectory were completely demolished other apparitions were reported as having been seen. During the investigations of the Cambridge Commission a white shape was seen briefly in the garden and one of the observers claimed to see the skeleton of a horse in an upstairs room (see Chronology, 16 November 1946), but the most spectacular phenomena from this period were apparently encountered by the Polish officers during their two visits in 1943 (see Chronology, 28–29 June & 28–29 July 1943). Apparitions included a dark figure seen twice on the Nun’s Walk and the outline of a man silhouetted against the wall of the chapel.


Later Borley (1945–Present)


The most consistent apparition to be reported from Borley since the demolition of the Rectory is that of the phantom nun. The figure has been reported several times over the years in the vicinity of Borley Church (see Chronology, 26 July 1949; July 1951; August 1953; July 1956; 3 December 1965; 23–24 July 1966). The most controversial sightings were those reported by Geoffrey Croom-Hollingsworth during the early 1970s. One of us (EB) on a visit to Borley in September 1972 took a photograph of the churchyard in which a convincing figure can be clearly seen which was not present when the picture was taken (see Brazil Borley Photograph).


APPORTS



Amongst the wide-ranging phenomena alleged to have taken place in and around Borley Rectory during its seventy-six-year history, there are many instances of the appearance of apports, i.e. objects materialised or brought into the building by paranormal means. The following is a brief summary of the Borley apports recorded during all of the principle incumbencies as well as Harry Price’s tenancy investigation. For the purposes of the survey, the apports are taken as being specific items, previously known or unknown, introduced paranormally, as opposed to those objects moved or found as part of poltergeist activity. This is particularly relevant during the Foyster period.


Despite its unbroken length of sixty-five years, there appears to be only one documented case of an apport appearing during the Bull incumbency. This is the French dictionary incident from the mid-1880s as reported to Harry Price by P. Shaw Jeffrey.


During the time that the Revd Guy E. Smith was rector, the phenomena began to increase dramatically in both variety and intensity. During a visit by Harry Price on 12 June 1929, several seashore pebbles and a piece of slate (either roofing slate or part of a chalk board), were projected down the main staircase (see Floor Plans) while Price was holding a vigil inside the building. On a later occasion, the date of which is disputed (see Chronology, 27 June & 5–6 July 1929), the main apport phenomena of the Smith incumbency, the so-called Borley Medals, took place at the bottom of the same staircase together with several stones and a collection of keys from a number of the room doors inside the house.


The first fifteen months of the Foyster incumbency contained, according to Price’s reckoning, over 2,000 separate incidents of paranormal phenomena16 (see Fifteen Months in a Haunted House and Foyster Phenomena). Of this astonishing total only a small amount can be classed in the nature of true apports. The first incident, the appearance of a bag of lavender, is undated but occurred soon after the Foysters took up residence in the Rectory. On 26 February 1931, a collection of hymn books that were not familiar to the Revd Lionel Foyster as being used by him or his parishioners were found over the kitchen range on a rack normally used to warm plates. The following month on 10 March, three objects were found inside the building that again were unknown – they were a small tin trunk, a china powder box and a wedding ring, the latter item which was found in the bathroom disappeared the following day and was not seen again, at least by the Foysters (see below).


The wall writing is one of the most familiar aspects of the Foyster period, if not the haunting as a whole. Associated with it is another apport phenomenon that occurred around the time that the first writing was found on the Rectory walls, namely the discovery of several small pieces of paper with the word ‘Marianne’ written on them, lying around the house. By far the most spectacular Foyster apports are the appearance of several wine bottles in the kitchen on the evening of 13 November 1931 in the presence of Marianne Foyster, her maid Katie and Edwin Whitehouse – for a full discussion see the Bottles entry.


The Rectory had stood empty for several months before Harry Price became the tenant in May 1937 and although the building was let unfurnished there were several odds and ends of household items still present in several of the rooms (see Control Objects). During the time that Price’s observers were holding vigils in the Rectory, other objects were found under circumstances that at the time were looked on as being out of the ordinary. One such item, and one which Price emphasised as being particularly significant as a possible apport, was a blue ladies’ jacket that was found in the Blue Room right at the beginning of the tenancy (see Strange Coat). On 25–26 June 1937, Colonel Westland and his wife spent an observation period at the Rectory and on looking in one of the cupboards in the ground floor passage leading to the side garden door (see Floor Plans) they found a small blue box containing pins and reported this to Price in their subsequent report. Although Price mentioned the box as one of several objects that had appeared in the Rectory ‘in a curious way’, no doubt this was an item that had been overlooked either by the Hennings or the Foysters and had been missed by Price and Ellic Howe when they visited Borley at the beginning of the month. However, the following week, two further observers, both RAF officers, found a steel nail file in the same cupboard next to the blue box which was not recorded by the Colonel in his write-up. How this item got into the cupboard in the intervening two days between the Westlands leaving and Flt Lts Caunter and Jonas arriving has not been established.
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